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For Immediate Release

Transcontinental Inc. announces its financial results for fiscal 2018

Highlights

• Revenues increased by $616.3 million, or 30.7%, from $2,007.2 million to $2,623.5 million, mainly as a result of the transformational 
acquisition of Coveris Americas completed on May 1, 2018. This increase was partially mitigated by the sale of our local and 
regional newspaper media assets in Québec and the sale of the printing operations of our Fremont, California, plant. Adjusted 
revenues, which exclude the accelerated recognition of deferred revenues of $102.1 million, increased by $514.2 million, or 
25.6%, from $2,007.2 million to $2,521.4 million.

• Operating earnings increased by $65.6 million, or 21.7%, from $302.0 million to $367.6 million. Adjusted operating earnings, 
which exclude the accelerated recognition of deferred revenues, accelerated depreciation, restructuring and other costs (gains), 
impairment of assets, amortization of intangible assets and the reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold arising from 
business combinations, increased by $46.1 million, or 14.8%, from $310.7 million to $356.8 million.

• Net earnings increased by $1.9 million, or 0.9%, from $211.5 million to $213.4 million. Adjusted net earnings, which exclude the 
accelerated recognition of deferred revenues, accelerated depreciation, restructuring and other costs (gains), impairment of 
assets, amortization of intangible assets and the reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold arising from business 
combinations, net of related income taxes, increased by $25.7 million, or 12.0%, from $213.7 million to $239.4 million. 

• Completed the acquisition of Coveris Americas, positioning TC Transcontinental as a North American leader in flexible packaging.
• Concluded an agreement with The Hearst Corporation whereby the Corporation transferred to Hearst, on April 2, 2018, the printing 

of the San Francisco Chronicle.
• Finalized the sale process of local and regional newspapers in Québec as well as their related web properties.

Montréal, December 13, 2018 - Transcontinental Inc. (TSX: TCL.A TCL.B) announces its results for fiscal 2018, which ended October 28, 
2018.

"I am proud of our financial results for 2018, a landmark year for our company as we completed the transformational acquisition of Coveris 
Americas, said François Olivier, President and Chief Executive Officer of TC Transcontinental. We rigorously executed our business 
strategy to propel our growth while reporting the highest profitability in our history for a fourth consecutive year.

"In the Packaging Sector, we invested close to $1.8 billion in strategic acquisitions that elevated the Corporation to the leader ranks in 
flexible packaging in North America. We thus recorded a significant increase in our financial results, particularly as a result of Coveris 
Americas' performance. We also remain on track in terms of the targets we established at the time of this transaction and are continuing 
the integration of our activities while staying focused on realizing expected synergies.

"On the printing side, we are very satisfied with our 2018 results. Once again, this sector had a strong year, both in terms of revenues and 
profitability. In fact, excluding the non-cash effect of the end of the recognition of deferred revenues related to certain newspapers, our 
profitability was similar to that of 2017. In addition, the demand for our integrated service offering to retailers remained relatively stable, 
demonstrating that it creates value for our customers.

"In summary, 2018 was a successful year, and we will pursue the implementation of our long-term plan on a solid foundation. We also 
expect to continue generating significant cash flows from our operating activities, which will first be allocated to reducing our indebtedness."



 2

Financial Highlights

(in millions of dollars, except per share
amounts) Q4-2018 Q4-2017

Variation
in % 2018 2017

Variation
in %

Revenues $829.2 $527.2 57.3 % $2,623.5 $2,007.2 30.7 %
Adjusted revenues (1) 829.2 527.2 57.3 2,521.4 2,007.2 25.6
Operating earnings before
depreciation and amortization 153.6 128.5 19.5 536.7 405.4 32.4
Adjusted operating earnings before 
depreciation and amortization (1) 162.2 123.3 31.5 459.3 396.7 15.8
Operating earnings 105.5 103.6 1.8 367.6 302.0 21.7
Adjusted operating earnings (1) 131.6 102.4 28.5 356.8 310.7 14.8
Net earnings 67.0 73.4 (8.7) 213.4 211.5 0.9
Net earnings per share 0.76 0.95 (20.0) 2.59 2.74 (5.5)
Adjusted net earnings (1) 87.0 71.0 22.5 239.4 213.7 12.0
Adjusted net earnings per share (1) 0.99 0.91 8.8 2.91 2.76 5.4
(1) Please refer to the section entitled "Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Financial Measures" in this press release for adjusted data presented above.

Fiscal 2018 Results

Revenues increased by $616.3 million, or 30.7%, from $2,007.2 million in fiscal 2017 to $2,623.5 million in fiscal 2018. Excluding the 
$102.1 million favourable effect of the accelerated recognition of deferred revenues related to the agreement signed with Hearst in 
December 2017, adjusted revenues went from $2,007.2 million in fiscal 2017 to $2,521.4 million in fiscal 2018, an increase of 25.6%. This 
increase is mainly attributable to the contribution from the acquisition of Coveris Americas and, to a lesser extent, to the acquisitions of 
Multifilm Packaging and Les Industries Flexipak, as well as organic growth in Packaging Sector revenues. However, this increase was 
partially offset by the effect of the disposals and closures of local newspapers, the unfavourable exchange rate effect and, to a lesser 
extent, the organic decline in revenues in certain Printing Sector verticals in fiscal 2018. Revenues from our service offering to Canadian 
retailers remained relatively stable.
 
Operating earnings increased by $65.6 million, or 21.7%, from $302.0 million in fiscal 2017 to $367.6 million in fiscal 2018. This increase 
is mostly attributable to the favourable effect of the accelerated recognition of deferred revenues, which was partially offset by the 
unfavourable impact of restructuring and other costs (gains) and the accelerated depreciation of equipment at our Fremont, California, 
printing plant. Adjusted operating earnings increased by $46.1 million, or 14.8%, from $310.7 million to $356.8 million. Excluding the 
favourable effect of the stock-based compensation expense, which decreased by $18.9 million as a result of the change in the share price 
in fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017, and the $28.9 million unfavourable non-cash effect of the end of the recognition of deferred revenues 
related to the San Francisco Chronicle, La Presse and The Globe and Mail in the Maritimes, adjusted operating earnings increased by 
$56.1 million, or 18.1%. This increase is mostly attributable to the contribution from our acquisitions and the organic growth in adjusted 
operating earnings as a result of the favourable effect of Corporation-wide cost reduction initiatives, which more than offset the above-
mentioned volume decreases in certain Printing Sector verticals.

Net earnings increased by $1.9 million, or 0.9%, from $211.5 million in fiscal 2017 to $213.4 million in fiscal 2018. This increase is mostly 
attributable to the growth in operating earnings, partially offset by higher income taxes and financial expenses. On a per share basis, net 
earnings went from $2.74 to $2.59, mainly due the effect of the issuance of 10.8 million Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation 
at the beginning of the third quarter of 2018. Adjusted net earnings increased by $25.7 million, or 12.0%, from $213.7 million in fiscal 2017 
to $239.4 million in fiscal 2018. On a per share basis, adjusted net earnings went from $2.76 to $2.91 as a result of the growth in adjusted 
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operating earnings, partially offset by higher financial expenses and the effect of the issuance of 10.8 million Class A Subordinate Voting 
Shares of the Corporation at the beginning of the third quarter of 2018.

2018 Fourth Quarter Results 

Revenues increased by $302.0 million, or 57.3%, from $527.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 to $829.2 million in the corresponding 
period in 2018. This increase is mainly attributable to the contribution from the acquisition of Coveris Americas completed on May 1, 2018 
and, to a lesser extent, to the acquisitions of Multifilm Packaging and Les Industries Flexipak, as well as the favourable effect of the price 
increase for certain types of paper in the Printing Sector. This increase was partially offset by the $18.4 million unfavourable effect related 
to the sale of our California newspaper printing operations, including the $7.3 million non-cash effect of the end of the recognition of 
deferred revenues and, to a lesser extent, to the effect of disposals and closures of local newspapers. In the Packaging Sector, organic 
revenue growth remained stable in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the corresponding quarter last year. Finally, revenues from our 
service offering to Canadian retailers in the Printing Sector remained relatively stable.

Operating earnings increased by $1.9 million, or 1.8%, from $103.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 to $105.5 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2018. This increase in mostly attributable to the decrease in the stock-based compensation expense and the impact of the 
acquisition of Coveris Americas, which were partially offset by the unfavourable effect of restructuring and other costs (gains). Adjusted 
operating earnings increased by $29.2 million, or 28.5%, from $102.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 to $131.6 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2018. This increase is mainly attributable to the contribution from acquisitions, the favourable effect of the decrease in the stock-
based compensation expense as well as the favourable effect of Corporation-wide cost reduction initiatives, partially offset by the non-
cash effect of the end of the recognition of deferred revenues related to the San Francisco Chronicle, La Presse and The Globe and Mail 
in the Maritimes. In our Packaging Sector, the increase in raw materials costs affected our activities and had an unfavourable effect on 
adjusted operating earnings for the quarter.

Net earnings decreased by $6.4 million, or 8.7%, from $73.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 to $67.0 million in the fourth quarter of 
2018. This decrease is mostly due to higher financial expenses, partially offset by lower income taxes and a slight increase in operating 
earnings. On a per share basis, net earnings went from $0.95 to $0.76 due to the above-mentioned items, but also to the effect of the 
issuance of 10.8 million Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation. Adjusted net earnings increased by $16.0 million, or 22.5%, 
from $71.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 to $87.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2018, mostly attributable to the increase in adjusted 
operated earnings, partially offset by higher financial expenses. On a per share basis, adjusted net earnings went from $0.91 to $0.99 as 
a result of the increase in adjusted net earnings, partially offset by the effect of the issuance of 10.8 million Class A Subordinate Voting 
Shares of the Corporation.

For more detailed financial information, please see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended October 28, 2018 as 
well as the financial statements in the “Investors” section of our website at www.tc.tc
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 Outlook

In our Packaging Sector, the acquisitions, in particular that of Coveris Americas completed on May 1, 2018, will significantly contribute 
to revenues and adjusted operating earnings for the next two quarters compared to the corresponding quarters of the prior year. With 
respect to Coveris Americas, we expect revenues to be similar to those anticipated at the time of the acquisition and our profit margins 
to gradually improve over the coming quarters as a result of the effect of the announced synergies, which should gradually start at the 
beginning of fiscal 2019 to reach the target of US$10 million on an annualized basis at the end of the second quarter of 2019, as well 
as an increased focus on manufacturing efficiency. In our packaging operations other than those of Coveris Americas, we should continue 
generating organic growth in revenues with the help of our well-established sales force, which should also contribute to profitability. Raw 
materials and transportation costs could once again have an unfavourable effect on the Sector's profit margins should they experience 
a sustained increase.

In our Printing Sector, we expect revenues from our service offering to Canadian retailers to remain relatively stable in fiscal 2019. The 
newspaper publishing vertical will continue to be affected by the end of the recognition of deferred revenues related to certain newspaper 
printing contracts (see Table #4), which will have an unfavourable non-cash effect on adjusted operating earnings of $9.9 million in the 
first quarter of 2019 and $4.5 million in the second quarter of 2019. In addition, no revenues will be recognized for transition services to 
Hearst in 2019, compared to revenues of approximately $9 million recognized for such services in fiscal 2018. In all the other printing 
verticals, we expect our revenues will continue to be affected by the same trends observed in recent quarters. Lastly, to limit the impact 
of these decreases, we will continue with our operational efficiency initiatives.

In line with our strategy, we will continue to generate significant cash flows from all our operating activities, which will enable us to reduce 
our net indebtedness. 

Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Financial Measures

The financial information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. However, financial measures used, namely the adjusted revenues, 
the adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization, the adjusted operating earnings, the adjusted net earnings, the 
adjusted net earnings per share, the net indebtedness and the net indebtedness ratio, for which a complete definition is presented in the
Management's Discussion and Analysis for the year ended October 28, 2018, and for which a reconciliation is presented in the following 
table, do not have any standardized meaning under IFRS and could be calculated differently by other companies. During the three-month 
period ended July 29, 2018, the Corporation updated its definition of certain terms presented in the tables hereafter, which now excludes 
the amortization of intangible assets and the reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold arising from business combinations. 
We believe that many of our readers analyze the financial performance of the Corporation’s activities based on these non-IFRS financial 
measures as such measures may allow for easier comparisons between periods. These measures should be considered as a complement 
to financial performance measures in accordance with IFRS. They do not substitute and are not superior to them. 

We also believe that the adjusted revenues, the adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization, the adjusted operating 
earnings, that takes into account the impact of past investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and the adjusted 
net earnings are useful indicators of the performance of our operations. Furthermore, management also uses some of these non-IFRS 
financial measures to assess the performance of its activities and managers.

Regarding the net indebtedness and net indebtedness ratio, we believe that these indicators are useful to measure the Corporation’s 
financial leverage and ability to meet its financial obligations.
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Reconciliation of revenues - Fourth quarter and fiscal year
Three months ended Year ended

(in millions of dollars)
October 28, 

2018
October 29, 

2017
October 28, 

2018
October 29, 

2017

Revenues $ 829.2 $ 527.2 $ 2,623.5 $ 2,007.2
Accelerated recognition of deferred revenues (1) — — (102.1) —
Adjusted revenues $ 829.2 $ 527.2 $ 2,521.4 $ 2,007.2

(1) Related to the agreement signed with Hearst on December 21, 2017. Please refer to Note 31, "New agreement with Hearst", to the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 28, 2018.

Reconciliation of operating earnings - Fourth quarter and fiscal year

Three months ended Year ended

(in millions of dollars)
October 28, 

2018
October 29, 

2017
October 28,

2018
October 29,

2017

Operating earnings $105.5 $103.6 $367.6 $302.0
Accelerated recognition of deferred revenues (1) — — (102.1) —
Accelerated depreciation (1) — — 22.0 —
Restructuring and other costs (gains) 8.6 (7.6) 8.6 (13.6)
Impairment of assets — 2.4 6.6 4.9
Amortization of intangible assets arising from business combinations (2) 17.5 4.0 44.6 17.4
Reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold arising from business
combinations — — 9.5 —

Adjusted operating earnings $131.6 $102.4 $356.8 $310.7
Depreciation and amortization (3) $30.6 20.9 $124.5 86.0
Accelerated depreciation (1) — — (22.0) —
Adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization $162.2 $123.3 $459.3 $396.7

(1) Related to the agreement signed with Hearst on December 21, 2017. Please refer to Note 31, "New agreement with Hearst", to the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 28, 2018.
(2) Intangible assets arising from business combinations include our customer relationships, trademarks and non-compete agreements.
(3) Depreciation and amortization excludes amortization of intangible assets arising from business combinations presented above.

Reconciliation of net earnings - Fourth quarter
Three months ended

October 28, 2018 October 29, 2017
(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts) Total Per share Total Per share
Net earnings $67.0 $0.76 $73.4 $0.95
Restructuring and other costs (gains), net of related income taxes 6.6 0.08 (6.8) (0.09)
Impairment of assets, net of related income taxes — — 1.7 0.02
Amortization of intangible assets arising from business combinations, net of related 
income taxes (1) 13.4 0.15 2.7 0.03

Adjusted net earnings $87.0 $0.99 $71.0 $0.91
(1) Intangible assets arising from business combinations include our customer relationships, trademarks and non-compete agreements.
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Reconciliation of net earnings - Fiscal year
Year ended

October 28, 2018 October 29, 2017
(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts) Total Per share Total Per share
Net earnings $213.4 $2.59 $211.5 $2.74
Accelerated recognition of deferred revenues, net of related income taxes (1) (75.4) (0.91) — —
Accelerated depreciation, net of related income taxes (1) 16.3 0.20 — —
Restructuring and other costs (gains), net of related income taxes 3.0 0.04 (12.8) (0.17)
Impairment of assets, net of related income taxes 4.9 0.06 3.5 0.05
Impact of the U.S. tax reform on deferred taxes 36.6 0.44 — —
Amortization of intangible assets arising from business combinations, net of related 
income taxes (2) 33.4 0.40 11.5 0.14
Reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold arising from business
combinations, net of related income taxes 7.2 0.09 — —

Adjusted net earnings $239.4 $2.91 $213.7 $2.76
(1) Related to the agreement signed with Hearst on December 21, 2017. Please refer to Note 31, "New agreement with Hearst", to the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 28, 2018.
(2) Intangible assets arising from business combinations include our customer relationships, trademarks and non-compete agreements.

Reconciliation of net indebtedness

(in millions of dollars, except ratios)
As at October 28,

2018
As at October 29, 

2017

Long-term debt $1,209.8 $348.3
Current portion of long-term debt 251.2 —
Cash (40.5) (247.1)
Net indebtedness $1,420.5 $101.2

Adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization (last 12 months) $459.3 $396.7
Net indebtedness ratio 3.1 x 0.3 x

Dividend 

The Corporation's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.21 per share on Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B 
Shares. This dividend is payable on January 22, 2019 to shareholders of record at the close of business on January 4, 2019. 

Conference Call

Upon releasing its fiscal 2018 results, the Corporation will hold a conference call for the financial community today at 4:15 p.m. The dial-
in numbers are 1 647 788-4922 or 1 877 223-4471. Media may hear the call in listen-only mode or tune in to the simultaneous audio 
broadcast on the Corporation’s website, which will then be archived for 30 days. For media requests or interviews, please contact Nathalie 
St-Jean, Senior Advisor, Corporate Communications of TC Transcontinental, at 514 954-3581.
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Profile

TC Transcontinental is a leader in flexible packaging in North America, and Canada’s largest printer. The Corporation is also a Canadian 
leader in its specialty media segments. For over 40 years, TC Transcontinental's mission has been to create products and services that 
allow businesses to attract, reach and retain their target customers. 

Respect, teamwork, performance and innovation are strong values held by the Corporation and its employees. TC Transcontinental's 
commitment to its stakeholders is to pursue its business activities in a responsible manner. 

Transcontinental Inc. (TSX: TCL.A TCL.B), known as TC Transcontinental, has over 9,000 employees, the majority of which are based in 
Canada, the United States and Latin America. TC Transcontinental had revenues of approximately C$2.6 billion for the fiscal year ended 
October 28, 2018. For more information, visit TC Transcontinental's website at www.tc.tc. 

Forward-looking Statements

Our public communications often contain oral or written forward-looking statements which are based on the expectations of management 
and inherently subject to a certain number of risks and uncertainties, known and unknown. By their very nature, forward-looking statements 
are derived from both general and specific assumptions. The Corporation cautions against undue reliance on such statements since actual 
results or events may differ materially from the expectations expressed or implied in them. Forward-looking statements may include 
observations concerning the Corporation's objectives, strategy, anticipated financial results and business outlook. The Corporation's future 
performance may also be affected by a number of factors, many of which are beyond the Corporation's will or control. These factors 
include, but are not limited to, the economic situation in the world, structural changes in the industries in which the Corporation operates, 
the exchange rate, availability of capital, raw materials costs, competition, the Corporation's capacity to engage in strategic transactions 
and effectively integrate acquisitions into its activities without affecting its growth and its profitability, while achieving the expected synergies, 
the political, social, regulatory and legislative environment, in particular with regard to the environment and sustainable development, the 
safety of its packaging products used in the food industry, innovation of its offering, the protection of its intellectual property rights, 
concentration of its sales in certain segments, cybersecurity and data protection, recruiting and retaining qualified personnel in certain 
geographic areas and industry sectors, taxation, interest rate and indebtedness level. The main risks, uncertainties and factors that could 
influence actual results are described in the Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) for the year ended October 28, 2018  and
in the latest Annual Information Form.

Unless otherwise indicated by the Corporation, forward-looking statements do not take into account the potential impact of nonrecurring 
or other unusual items, nor of divestitures, business combinations, mergers or acquisitions which may be announced after the date of 
December 13, 2018.

The forward-looking statements in this press release are made pursuant to the “safe harbour” provisions of applicable Canadian securities 
legislation.

The forward-looking statements in this release are based on current expectations and information available as at December 13, 2018. 
Such forward-looking information may also be found in other documents filed with Canadian securities regulators or in other 
communications. The Corporation's management disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise these statements unless otherwise 
required by the securities authorities.

- 30 -
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For information: 

Media
   
Nathalie St-Jean
Senior Advisor, Corporate Communications 
TC Transcontinental
Telephone: 514-954-3581
nathalie.st-jean@tc.tc
www.tc.tc

Financial Community

Mathieu Hébert
Director, Financial Analysis and Treasury
TC Transcontinental
Telephone: 514-954-4029
mathieu.hebert@tc.tc
www.tc.tc
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Transcontinental Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Transcontinental Inc., which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at October 28, 2018, and October 29, 
2017, the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.



 
 

*CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A114306 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Transcontinental Inc. as at October 28, 2018, and October 29, 2017, 
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 
 

December 13, 2018 

Montréal, Canada 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

October 28, October 29, 
Notes 2018 2017

Revenues $ 2,623.5 $ 2,007.2
Operating expenses 5 2,071.6 1,610.5
Restructuring and other costs (gains) 6 8.6 (13.6)
Impairment of assets 7 6.6 4.9

Operating earnings before depreciation and amortization 536.7 405.4
Depreciation and amortization 8 & 31 169.1 103.4

Operating earnings 367.6 302.0
Net financial expenses 9 36.5 17.7

Earnings before share of net earnings in interests in joint ventures and income taxes 331.1 284.3
Share of net earnings in interests in joint ventures, net of related taxes 0.1 0.3
Income taxes 10 117.8 73.1

Net earnings $ 213.4 $ 211.5

Net earnings per share - basic $ 2.59 $ 2.74

Net earnings per share - diluted $ 2.58 $ 2.73

Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic (in millions) 22 82.5 77.3

Weighted average number of shares - diluted (in millions) 22 82.6 77.5

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

October 28, October 29, 
Notes 2018 2017

Net earnings $ 213.4 $ 211.5

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that will be reclassified to net earnings
Net change related to cash flow hedges

Net change in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (0.6) 2.3
Reclassification of the net change in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow

hedges in prior periods, recognized in net earnings during the period (0.5) 1.3
Related income taxes (0.3) 1.0

(0.8) 2.6

Cumulative translation differences
Net unrealized exchange gains (losses) on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations 13.9 (19.5)
Net gains (losses) on hedge of the net investment in foreign operations (0.7) 3.4
Related income taxes (0.6) 0.9

13.8 (17.0)

Items that will not be reclassified to net earnings
Changes related to defined benefit plans

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans 5.1 8.6
Related income taxes 1.8 2.4

3.3 6.2

Other comprehensive income (loss) 24 16.3 (8.2)
Comprehensive income $ 229.7 $ 203.3

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Accumulated
other

Share Contributed Retained comprehensive Total
Notes capital surplus earnings income (loss) equity

Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ 371.6 $ 1.1 $ 851.5 $ (5.5) $ 1,218.7
Net earnings — — 213.4 — 213.4
Other comprehensive income 24 — — — 16.3 16.3
Shareholders' contributions and

distributions to shareholders
Share redemptions 21 (7.1) — (16.5) — (23.6)
Dividends 21 — — (68.6) — (68.6)
Issuance of shares, net of issuance costs 21 277.9 — — — 277.9

Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ 642.4 $ 1.1 $ 979.8 $ 10.8 $ 1,634.1

Balance as at October 31, 2016 $ 361.9 $ 3.2 $ 700.9 $ 2.7 $ 1,068.7
Net earnings — — 211.5 — 211.5
Other comprehensive loss 24 — — — (8.2) (8.2)
Shareholders' contributions and

distributions to shareholders
Exercise of stock options 21 9.7 (2.1) — — 7.6
Dividends 21 — — (60.9) — (60.9)

Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ 371.6 $ 1.1 $ 851.5 $ (5.5) $ 1,218.7

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

Notes 2018 2017 (1)

Current assets
Cash $ 40.5 $ 247.1
Accounts receivable 11 565.4 380.6
Income taxes receivable 6.9 17.2
Inventories 12 305.6 116.9
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 24.7 18.4

943.1 780.2

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties 13 888.6 500.8
Intangible assets 14 747.1 171.1
Goodwill 4 & 15 1,150.0 505.0
Deferred taxes 10 18.4 139.0
Other assets 16 35.0 40.6

$ 3,782.2 $ 2,136.7

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17 $ 431.6 $ 304.7
Provisions 19 3.7 6.4
Income taxes payable 14.8 9.5
Deferred revenues and deposits 16.0 44.7
Current portion of long-term debt 18 251.2 —

717.3 365.3

Long-term debt 18 1,209.8 348.3
Deferred taxes 10 98.4 44.1
Provisions 19 2.3 1.3
Other liabilities 20 120.3 159.0

2,148.1 918.0

Equity
Share capital 21 642.4 371.6
Contributed surplus 1.1 1.1
Retained earnings 979.8 851.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 24 10.8 (5.5)

1,634.1 1,218.7
$ 3,782.2 $ 2,136.7

(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year. 

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

October 28, October 29, 
Notes 2018 2017

Operating activities
Net earnings $ 213.4 $ 211.5
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings and cash flows from operating activities:

Impairment of assets 7 6.6 4.9
Depreciation and amortization 8 193.5 127.8
Financial expenses on long-term debt 9 40.7 17.5
Net gains on disposal of assets (5.1) (1.2)
Net gains on business disposals 4 & 6 (37.5) (24.1)
Income taxes 10 117.8 73.1
Net foreign exchange differences and other 9.8 1.4

Cash flows generated by operating activities before changes in non-cash operating items and income taxes paid 539.2 410.9
Changes in non-cash operating items (1) 25 (184.8) (31.0)
Income taxes paid (41.9) (55.8)
Cash flows from operating activities 312.5 324.1

Investing activities
Business combinations, net of acquired cash 4 (1,573.3) (15.9)
Business disposals 4 35.0 33.7
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment (59.4) (33.2)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 24.7 7.1
Increase in intangible assets (20.6) (15.6)
Dividends received from joint ventures 3.4 —
Net cash outflow on acquisition of an associate (2.5) —
Cash flows from investing activities (1,592.7) (23.9)

Financing activities
Increase in long-term debt, net of issuance costs 958.9 —
Reimbursement of long-term debt 4 & 18 (164.0) (0.2)
Net increase in credit facility, net of issuance costs 18 128.4 —
Financial expenses on long-term debt (35.0) (16.2)
Proceeds from issuance of shares in exchange for subscription receipts, net of issuance costs 274.9 —
Exercise of stock options 21 — 7.6
Dividends 21 (68.6) (60.9)
Share redemptions 21 (23.6) —
Cash flows from financing activities 1,071.0 (69.7)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash denominated in foreign currencies 2.6 (0.1)

Net change in cash (206.6) 230.4
Cash at beginning of year 247.1 16.7
Cash at end of year $ 40.5 $ 247.1

Non-cash investing activities
Net change in capital asset acquisitions financed by accounts payable $ 1.3 $ (0.4)

(1) Includes the accelerated recognition of deferred revenues balance as at October 29, 2017 as part of the transaction with Hearst for the year ended October 28, 2018 
(Note 31).

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

1   GENERAL INFORMATION

Transcontinental Inc. (the "Corporation") is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act. Its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Shares are traded 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The Corporation's head office is located at 1 Place Ville Marie, Suite 3240, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 0G1.

The Corporation is a leader in flexible packaging in North America, and Canada’s largest printer. The Corporation mainly conducts business in Canada, the United States, Latin 
America, the United Kingdom, Australia and New Zealand in three separate sectors: the Packaging Sector, the Print Sector and the Media Sector. The Corporation’s main 
activities are described in Note 3 "Segmented Information".

The Corporation's Board of Directors approved these consolidated financial statements on December 13, 2018.

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board ("IASB").

The accounting policies adopted in these annual consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS that were issued, in effect and adopted by the Corporation as at October 28, 
2018. Any subsequent changes to the accounting policies that will be in effect in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements after October 28, 2018 could result in a 
restatement of these annual consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated IFRS financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the following significant accounting policies:

a) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, which is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the 
assets, except for the following items:

• derivative financial instruments and contingent considerations which have been measured at their fair value;
• the liability related to stock-based compensation which has been measured under IFRS 2, Share-based payments, and
• defined benefit liabilities, which are measured at the net amount of the fair value of defined benefit plan assets and the present value of the obligations related to these 

plans.

b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation, its subsidiaries and joint ventures. The accounting policies described have been applied consistently 
by all the subsidiaries and joint ventures.

i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Corporation. There is control when the Corporation is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee, and has the ability to use its power over the investee to significantly affect the amount of the returns it obtains. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date the 
Corporation obtains control, and cease to be consolidated from the date that control ceases. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 
so that their accounting policies are consistent with those of the Corporation. An entity that is fully consolidated but that is not wholly owned by the Corporation results in a 
non-controlling interests, which are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings and the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The Corporation holds the following main subsidiaries:

Holding
Transcontinental Printing Inc. (Canada) 100.0 %
Transcontinental Printing 2007 Inc. (Quebec) 100.0
Transcontinental Printing 2005 G.P. (Quebec) 100.0
Transcontinental Printing Corporation (Delaware) 100.0
Transcontinental Media Inc. (Quebec) 100.0
Transcontinental Media G.P. (Quebec) 100.0
Transcontinental Interactive Inc. (Canada) 100.0
TC Transcontinental Packaging Inc. (Delaware) 100.0
Transcontinental US LLC (Delaware) 100.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ii) Joint ventures
Joint ventures are entities over which the Corporation has joint control under contractual agreements that require the unanimous consent of the parties for decisions on 
activities that have a significant effect on the returns of the entity and in which the Corporation has rights to the net assets of the entity. Joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method. The Corporation's interests in joint ventures are mainly in the Media Sector and their effect on the consolidated assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
is not significant.

c) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method, and their operating results are included in the consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition 
date. The consideration transferred is the sum of the fair value of the assets acquired, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred or assumed by the Corporation and contingent 
considerations, on the acquisition date, in exchange for control of the acquired entity. The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill. The transaction costs attributable to the acquisition are recognized in net earnings when they are incurred.

If the agreement includes a contingent consideration, such contingent consideration is measured at fair value as of the acquisition date and added to the consideration transferred, 
and a liability for the same amount is recognized. Any subsequent change to the fair value of the contingent consideration will be recognized in net earnings under Restructuring 
and other costs (gains).

If the initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete when the financial statements are issued for the period during which the acquisition occurred, the Corporation 
records provisional amounts for the items for which measurement is incomplete. Adjustments resulting from the completion of the measurement will be reflected as adjustments 
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the measurement period, and the adjustments must be applied retroactively. The measurement period is the period from 
the acquisition date to the date on which the Corporation has received complete information on the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the Corporation remeasures the interest it held previously in the acquiree at fair value at the acquisition date and recognizes 
any resulting gain or loss in net earnings.

In the case of a business combination involving less than 100% of ownership interests, a non-controlling interest is measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's 
share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree. The basis of measurement is determined on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

d) Revenue recognition
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, less the estimated amount of discounts and other similar reductions granted to customers.

When it sells goods, the Corporation recognizes revenues when the following conditions have been satisfied:
• the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred;
• the Corporation retains neither continuing managerial involvement nor effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation;
• the costs incurred or to be incurred as part of the sale of goods can be reliably measured.

When rendering services, the Corporation recognizes revenues when the following conditions have been satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
• the stage of completion of the activity can be reliably measured;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation;
• the costs incurred or to be incurred as part of the rendering of services can be reliably measured.

i) In both the Printing Sector and the Packaging Sector, revenues are recognized as follows:

Printing and packaging products:
Revenues from the sale of printing and packaging products are recognized when the products are shipped or delivered, in accordance with the customer agreement.

Distribution revenues:
Door-to-door distribution revenues are recognized at the delivery date of the advertising material.

Premedia revenues:
Premedia revenues are recognized when services are provided, in accordance with the customer agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ii) In the Media Sector, revenues are recognized as follows:

Advertising revenues:
Advertising revenues are recognized at the publication date in the case of a daily or weekly publication or at the date of issue in the case of a monthly publication.

Subscription revenues:
Subscription revenues are recognized using the straight-line method, based on subscription terms, which represent the period over which the services are provided. Accordingly, 
amounts received are recorded in deferred subscription revenues, and subsequently transferred to net earnings over the term of the subscription.

Newsstand revenues:
Newsstand revenues are recognized at the time of delivery, net of a provision for returns.

Book revenues:
Book revenues are recognized when the books are shipped to customers, net of a provision for returns.

Custom publishing revenues:
Custom publishing revenues are recognized when products are shipped or delivered, or when services are provided, in accordance with the customer agreement. Revenues 
for updating digital publications are recognized based on the percentage of completion.

Revenues for the use of computerized tools:
Revenues for the use of computerized tools are recognized based on usage, storage space or reports generated, in accordance with the customer agreement. Revenues 
billed also consider volume discounts.

e) Exchange transactions
In the normal course of business, the Corporation offers advertising in exchange for goods or services. The related revenues are measured at the fair value of the goods and 
services received or given, when the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be reliably measured. For the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation recognized 
an amount of $1.5 million for exchange transactions ($2.3 million for the year ended October 29, 2017).

f) Income taxes
The Corporation records income taxes using the liability method of accounting. Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred taxes. It is recognized in net 
earnings, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.

i) Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the period's taxable income, using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the 
financial statements, and any adjustment to tax expense or recovery in respect of previous years. Taxable income differs from earnings reported on the Consolidated Statement 
of Earnings due to items of income and expense that are taxable or deductible during other periods, or items that will never be taxable, or deductible.

ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is determined on the basis of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities, and is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the date 
of the financial statements. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the 
extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences arising on the initial recognition 
of goodwill. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each period and a reduction of the carrying amount is recognized when it is probable that 
these assets will not be realized.

  
g) Government assistance
Investment tax credits related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets are recorded as a reduction of the cost of the underlying asset. Investment 
tax credits related to operating expenses are recorded as a reduction of such expenses. Government assistance related to publishing activities is recorded as a reduction of 
publishing costs.

h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months.

i) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first in, first out method, and includes the acquisition costs of raw materials 
and manufacturing costs, such as direct labor and a portion of manufacturing overhead.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

j) Supplier rebates
The Corporation records supplier rebates as a reduction of the price of products or services received and reduces operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
and related inventory in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. These rebates are estimated based on anticipated purchases.

k) Property, plant, equipment and investment properties
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost includes expenditures directly attributable to the 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment. The costs, such as borrowing costs incurred directly for the acquisition or construction of property, plant and equipment, are 
capitalized until the asset is ready for its intended use, and are depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Property, plant and equipment under construction are not 
depreciated as long as they have not been put in service.

Property, plant, equipment and investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 20-40 years
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease
Machinery and equipment 3-15 years
Machinery and equipment under finance leases 3-15 years
Other equipment 2-5 years

Major parts of an item of property, plant and equipment with different useful lives are accounted for as separate components of the asset, and depreciated over their respective 
useful lives.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if applicable, at each reporting date.

l) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased property are transferred to the lessee. Other leases 
are classified as operating leases.

Property, plant and equipment held under a finance lease is initially recognized at the lesser of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The leased item is then recognized in the same manner as other similar assets held by the Corporation. The related liability payable to the lessor is recorded as a finance lease 
debt and a finance charge is recognized in net earnings over the term of the lease.

Operating leases are recognized in net earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

m) Intangible assets

i) Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded at fair value at acquisition date, and subsequently recognized at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

ii) Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated intangible assets consist of book prepublication costs and technology project costs. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset includes all the 
directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Expenses incurred in 
research activities are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Expenses incurred in development activities are also expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred, except if they meet all the criteria for capitalization. The initial amount recognized as an internally generated intangible asset is equal to the sum of expenses incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the criteria for capitalization.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized according to the following methods and estimated useful lives:

Term / Rate Method
Customer relationships 4-12 years Straight-line
Book prepublication costs Maximum 7 years Based on historical sales patterns
Educational book titles 6-9 years Based on historical sales patterns
Acquired printing contracts Term of the contract Straight-line
Non-compete agreements 2-5 years Straight-line
Technology project costs 3-7 years Straight-line

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if applicable, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized. They mainly consist of trade names acquired in business combinations for book publication activities. The 
value allocated to trade names is based on the reputation that a publication has built historically. Given that this value is not affected by the passage of time, it is impossible 
to allocate it systematically over time. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for impairment or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate 
a potential impairment.

iii) Goodwill
Goodwill is recognized at cost, which represents the amount by which the consideration transferred exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquired 
businesses, and at cost less accumulated impairment losses thereafter. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized.

n) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Corporation reviews the carrying amount of its non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, at each reporting date in order to determine whether 
there is an indication of potential impairment.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives acquired in business combinations are allocated to cash generating units ("CGU"), and assessed for impairment annually, or more 
frequently if changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment. In the presence of such changes, an estimate is made of the asset's recoverable amount.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, beginning on the acquisition date, to the group of CGUs that will benefit from the synergies of the combination. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, non-financial assets that cannot be tested individually for impairment are aggregated to form the smallest group of assets that generates, 
through continuing use, cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets. Each group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated may not be larger than 
an operating segment, and represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored as part of internal management.

The recoverable amount of a CGU (or group of CGUs) is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is determined by discounting estimated 
future cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments, the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (or group of CGUs). Fair value less 
costs of disposal is determined by using an EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) capitalization multiple of comparable companies whose 
activities are similar to those of each CGU (or group of CGUs).

The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. They are tested for impairment at the lowest CGU aggregation level to which the corporate assets 
can be reasonably and consistently allocated. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU (or group 
of CGUs) to which the corporate asset has been allocated.

Except in the case of an impairment indicator identified earlier during the fiscal year which would require the Corporation to perform an impairment test at that date, the Corporation 
performs its annual test of impairment during the last quarter of its fiscal year, based on the Corporation's net carrying amount of assets as at the first day of the last quarter of 
each fiscal year.

The most recent detailed calculation made in a preceding period of the recoverable amount of a CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated may be used 
in the impairment test of that CGU (of group of CGUs) in the current period provided all of the following criteria are met:

• the assets and liabilities making up the CGU (or group of CGUs) have not changed significantly since the most recent recoverable amount calculation;
• the most recent recoverable amount calculation resulted in an amount that exceeded the carrying amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs) by a substantial margin; and
• based on an analysis of events that have occurred and circumstances that have changed since the most recent recoverable amount calculation, the likelihood that a current 

recoverable amount determination would be less than the current carrying amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs) is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset, a CGU (or group of CGUs) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized 
in net earnings. Impairment losses recognized are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or group of CGUs), and then to reduce 
the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (or group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Previously impaired non-
financial assets are reassessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there have been 
changes to the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, and that these changes will be supported in the future. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

o) Contract acquisition costs
Contract acquisition costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the related contract term, as reduction of revenues. Whenever significant changes occur that impact 
the related contract, including declines in anticipated profitability, the Corporation evaluates the realizable value of the contract acquisition costs to determine whether an 
impairment has occurred. These costs are included in other assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

p) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation arising from past events, 
when it is probable that an outflow of funds will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognized 
as a provision is the Corporation's best estimate of the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. When the effect of discounting is significant, the amount of the 
provision is determined by discounting the expected cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability. The Corporation's main provisions are related to restructuring costs and onerous contracts. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and any changes to 
estimates are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

i) Restructuring
A restructuring provision is recorded when the Corporation has a formal and detailed restructuring plan, and a valid expectation has been raised in those affected, either by 
starting to implement the plan or by announcing its main characteristics. Future operating losses are not subject to a provision.

ii) Onerous contracts
An onerous contract provision is recorded when the Corporation has a contract under which it is more likely than not that the unavoidable costs of meeting the contractual 
obligations will be greater than the economic benefits that the Corporation expects to receive under the contract. An onerous contract provision represents the lesser of the 
cost of exiting from the contract and the cost of fulfilling it.

q) Employee benefits
The Corporation offers various contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment defined benefit plans, defined contribution pension 
plans and registered group savings plans to its employees. Since June 1, 2010, most employees participate only in defined contribution pension plans. The Corporation also 
offers other long-term employee benefit plans that provide for continued dental and health care benefits in case of long-term disability.

The Corporation participates in multi-employer pension plans accounted for as defined contribution plans. The Corporation's contributions to these plans are limited to the 
amounts established under the collective agreements. Contributions to the plans are recognized in net earnings when services are provided by employees.

i) Defined benefit plans
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment defined benefit plans is established with the assistance of independent actuaries on each reporting 
date, using the Projected Unit Cost Method and based on management’s best estimates regarding the discount rate, expected rate of return of the plans’ investments, salary 
increases, changes in health care costs, the retirement age of employees and life expectancies. The discount rate is based on applicable market interest rates for investment-
grade corporate bonds with maturities consistent with the timing of payment of benefits provided under the plans.

The defined benefit asset (liability) recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation, less the fair value of 
plan assets. The value of plan assets is limited to the total of unrecognized past service cost and the present value of the economic benefits available in the form of refunds 
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan ("effect of the asset ceiling"). Any surplus is immediately recognized in other comprehensive income ("OCI"). In 
addition, a minimum liability is recognized when the statutory minimum funding requirement for past service exceeds the economic benefits available in the form of refunds 
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Net cumulative actuarial gains or losses related to plan assets and the defined benefit obligation, as well as the change in the asset ceiling and any minimum liability, are 
recognized in OCI during the period in which they occur, except for actuarial gains or losses on other post-employment benefits, which are recognized immediately in net 
earnings. 

Past service cost is recognized as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings during the period in which it occurs. Current service cost and the interest cost on 
the net defined benefit obligation or asset are recognized in net earnings during the period in which they occur, under Operating expenses and Net financial expenses, 
respectively. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ii) Defined contribution pension plans, group registered savings plans and state plans 
Under the defined contribution pension plans, group registered savings plans and state plans, the Corporation makes contributions to the participating employees' plans 
using a predetermined percentage of the employee's salary and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay additional amounts. The cost for these plans is recorded when 
services are rendered by employees, which is generally at the same time the contributions are made. The Corporation's contributions that are paid to state plans are managed 
by government bodies.

r) Stock-based compensation
The Corporation has stock option and share unit plans for certain officers, senior executives and directors.

i) Stock option plan
Stock options are measured at fair value at the time they are granted using the Black-Scholes model, and are recognized in net earnings on a straight-line basis at a rate of 
25% per year, which is the vesting period of the options, and according to the Corporation's estimate of the number of options that will vest. On each reporting date, the 
Corporation revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest and recognizes any impact of this revision in net earnings.

ii) Share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives
Compensation costs related to share unit plans for certain officers and senior executives are recognized in net earnings on a straight-line basis over the three-year vesting 
period, either on the achievement of performance targets for the units related to performance, or on tenure for other units. The liability for these units is measured at fair value 
based on the trading price of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation, and are remeasured on each reporting date, until settlement. Any changes in the fair 
value is recognized in net earnings. On each reporting date, the Corporation revises its estimate of the number of units expected to vest and recognizes any impact of this 
revision in net earnings, under Operating expenses.

iii) Share unit plan for directors
Compensation costs related to share units for directors are recognized in net earnings at the time they are granted. These units are initially measured at fair value based on 
the trading price of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation, and are remeasured on each reporting date, until settlement. Any changes in fair value are 
recognized in net earnings, under operating expenses.

s) Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Corporation. The functional currency is the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Corporation operates. The functional currency of the operating foreign subsidiaries is mainly the U.S dollar.

Transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Corporation or of a foreign subsidiary are accounted for using the exchange rate prevailing on 
the transaction date. On each reporting date, monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate prevailing on that date, and non-monetary 
items that are measured at historical cost are not adjusted. Exchange differences are recognized in net earnings in the period during which they occur.

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate prevailing as 
at the reporting date. Revenue and expense items are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Exchange differences are recognized in OCI under "Cumulative 
translation differences" and are accumulated in equity. The accumulated amount of exchange differences is reclassified to net earnings upon disposal or partial disposal of an 
interest in a foreign operation.

The Corporation designates certain foreign exchange forward contracts denominated in U.S. dollars and certain financial instruments denominated in U.S. dollars as hedging 
instruments for an equivalent portion of its net investment in certain foreign operations that have the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. Thus, the effective portion of changes 
in the fair value of foreign exchange contracts as well as the foreign exchange fluctuation of financial instruments denominated in U.S. dollars, net of related income taxes, is 
recognized in OCI and the ineffective portion is recognized in net earnings. Cumulative gains and losses recognized in accumulated OCI are reclassified to net earnings in the 
period in which the related net investment in a foreign operation is subject to a total or partial disposal.
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2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

t) Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification. Their classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or issued, their characteristics and the Corporation's designation of such instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified and subsequently measured as follows:

Category Subsequent measurement
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Accounts receivable and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Accounts payable, other accrued liabilities and other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Contingent consideration Fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Long-term debt Other financial liabilities Amortized cost, at the effective interest rate
Derivative financial instruments Held for trading Fair value

Transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets or liabilities are capitalized to the cost of financial assets and liabilities when they are not 
classified as held for trading. Thus, long-term debt issuance costs are classified as a reduction of long-term debt, and amortized using the effective interest method.

Changes in fair value of financial instruments held for trading are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings in the appropriate period. Changes in fair value of financial 
instruments designated as cash flow hedges are recorded, for the effective portion, in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the appropriate period until their 
realization, after which they are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

u) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Corporation identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks related to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates in order to minimize the effect on its results 
and financial position, using derivative financial instruments for which parameters have been defined and approved by the Board of Directors. If the Corporation did not use 
derivative financial instruments, exposure to market volatility would be greater.

When applying hedge accounting, the Corporation formally documents the relationship between the derivative financial instruments and the hedged items, as well as its objective 
and risk management strategy underlying its hedging activities, as well as the methods that will be used to assess hedge effectiveness. This process includes linking all derivative 
financial instruments designated as a hedge item to specific assets and liabilities, firm commitments or specific forecast transactions.

At the inception of the hedging relationship and throughout its duration, the Corporation must have reasonable assurance that the relationship will remain effective and in 
accordance with its risk management objective and strategy as initially documented. The effectiveness of the hedging relationship must be confirmed at each reporting date. 

For derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the hedging relationship, and the effective portion of changes in fair value of the 
derivative, are recognized in OCI and the ineffective portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. The effective portion of a currency risk hedging relationship 
related to foreign currency sales is reclassified to net earnings during the period in which the hedged item affects net earnings. The effective portion of a currency risk hedging 
relationship of a firm commitment to acquire an entity in a business combination, which is deferred in accumulated OCI, is reclassified against goodwill upon initial recognition 
of the acquired entity.

When hedging instruments mature or become ineffective before their maturity, any gains or losses, revenues or expenses associated with the hedging instrument that had 
previously been recognized in OCI as a result of applying hedge accounting are deferred and recognized in net earnings in the period during which the asset acquired or liability 
assumed affects net earnings. If the hedged item ceases to exist due to its maturity, expiry, cancellation or exercise before the hedging instrument expires, any gains or losses, 
revenues or expenses associated with the hedging instrument that had previously been recognized in OCI as a result of applying hedge accounting are recognized in the 
reporting period's net earnings along with the corresponding gains or losses, revenues or expenses recognized on the hedged item.

Derivative financial instruments offering economic hedging without being qualified for hedge accounting are recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in net 
earnings. The Corporation does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

v) Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Corporation's activities that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and represents a separate major line 
of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations or is a 
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

w) Critical judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Corporation's management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities on the reporting date, and amounts of revenues and expenses for the relevant period. Although 
management regularly reviews its estimates, actual results may differ. The impact of changes to accounting estimates is recognized in the period during which the change 
occurs, and in the affected future periods, when applicable. Areas in which the estimates and assumptions are significant or which are complex, are as follows:
 

i) Business combinations
The determination of fair value associated with identifiable property, plant and equipment and intangible assets following a business combination requires management to 
make assumptions. More specifically, this is the case when the Corporation calculates fair values using appropriate valuation techniques, which are generally based on a 
forecast of expected future cash flows for intangible assets, and on a replacement cost approach, an income-based approach and/or a market-based approach for property, 
plant and equipment. These valuations are closely related to the assumptions made by management about the future return on the related assets and the discount rate 
applied. Significant changes to these assumptions could significantly change the fair values associated with identifiable intangible assets following a business combination, 
which would impact the amortization expense. 

ii) Impairment of non-financial assets
As part of assessing goodwill, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for impairment, the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined using a complex valuation 
method that requires the use of a number of methods, including the discounted future cash flow method and the market-based method.

When the discounted future cash flow method is used, cash flow projections are established based on past experience, certain economic trends as well as industry and 
market trends, and represent management’s best estimates of future results. The recoverable amount of a CGU is also influenced by the discount rate used in the model, 
by the growth rate used to make the extrapolation and by the weighted average cost of capital.

When a market-based method is used, the Corporation estimates the fair value of the CGU by multiplying the normalized results before depreciation and amortization, interest 
and taxes by a capitalization multiple that is based on market data.

These methods rely on numerous assumptions and estimates that may have a significant impact on the recoverable amount of a CGU, and thereby, on the amount of 
impairment, if any. The impact of significant changes in assumptions and the revision of estimates, if any, is recognized in net earnings in the period in which the changes 
occur or the estimates are revised.

iii) Income taxes
The Corporation determines its income tax expense and its income tax assets and liabilities based on its interpretation of applicable tax legislation, including tax treaties 
between the various countries in which it operates, as well as underlying rules and regulations. Such interpretations involve judgments and estimates that may be challenged 
in government tax audits, to which the Corporation is regularly subject. New information may also become available, which would cause the Corporation to change its judgment 
regarding the adequacy of existing income tax assets and liabilities. Any such changes will have an impact on net earnings for the period in which they occur.

In the calculation of income taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities, estimates must be used to determine the appropriate rates and amounts, and to take into account 
the probability of realization of tax assets. Deferred tax assets also reflect the benefit of unused tax losses and deductions that can be carried forward to reduce current 
income taxes in future years. This assessment requires the Corporation to make significant estimates in determining whether or not it is probable that the deferred tax assets 
can be recovered from future taxable income and therefore, that they can be recognized in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. The Corporation relies, among 
other things, on its past experience to make this assessment.

Once the final amounts have been determined, they may result in adjustments to current and deferred tax assets and liabilities.

iv) Employee benefits
The costs of defined benefit pension plans and the defined pension benefit assets (liabilities) are measured using actuarial methods. Actuarial valuations are based on 
assumptions such as discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, compensation growth rates and mortality rates. Due to the long-term nature of these obligations, 
these estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Management revises these assumptions annually and the impact of the revision, if any, is recognized in the Statement 
of Financial Position and in comprehensive income in the period in which the estimates are revised.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS also requires management to make judgments, other than those involving estimates, in the process of 
applying the Corporation's accounting policies. Areas in which judgments are significant are as follows:
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2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

v) Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, beginning on the acquisition date, to the group of CGUs that will benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

During this process, the Corporation makes judgments based on the objectives sought in the business combination and on how it manages its operations. Making a different 
judgment could lead to a different result in regards with the annual impairment test of non-financial assets.

The Corporation also uses its judgment to determine whether an impairment test must be performed due to the existence of potential impairment indicators. In making its 
judgments, the Corporation relies primarily on its knowledge of its business and the economic environment.

vi) Foreign currency translation
In determining the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries, the Corporation needs to evaluate different factors such as the currency that mainly influences sales prices 
and costs, the economic environment and the degree of autonomy of the subsidiary. Following the evaluation of the different factors, when the functional currency is not 
obvious, the Corporation uses its judgment to determine the functional currency that most fairly represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and 
conditions.

vii) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations
The Corporation uses its judgment to determine whether an asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition and whether its sale is highly 
probable and therefore should be classified as held for sale at the balance sheet date. The Corporation also uses its judgment to determine whether a component of the 
Corporation that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale meets the criteria of a discontinued operation. The key area that involves management judgment 
in this determination is whether the component represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation.

New or amended accounting standards adopted

• Investment property
Investment properties owned by the Corporation and which it does not primarily occupy for its own use are held to earn rental income or capital appreciation. Investment 
properties are initially recorded at the transaction price plus transaction costs upon acquisition, or at previous amortized cost in the case of buildings transferred from Property, 
plant and equipment. These properties are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 to 
40 years. Rental income is recognized in the consolidated Statements of Earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and operating expenses of properties 
are recorded in Operating expenses.

• Statement of cash flows
In January 2016, the IASB issued modifications to IAS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows", which requires specific disclosures to enable financial statement users to assess changes 
in liabilities from financing activities. These amendments were applied during the year ended October 28, 2018. The effect of these amendments is presented in Note 25.

New or amended accounting standards not yet adopted

• Financial Instruments
In July 2014, IASB issued IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments". IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement" and IFRIC 9 "Reassessment of 
Embedded Derivatives".

The IASB completed its project to replace IAS 39 in stages. IFRS 9 provides a single approach for the classification and measurement of financial instruments based on the 
cash flow characteristics and the business model within which the asset is held. This single principle-based approach replaces the existing rules-based requirements and 
results in a single impairment model for all financial instruments. IFRS 9 also modifies the hedge accounting model to incorporate the risk management practices of an entity. 
IFRS 9 will be applicable to the Corporation for the annual period beginning on October 29, 2018, with earlier application permitted. The Corporation does not expect that 
adopting this standard will have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

• Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers". IFRS 15 will replace IAS 11 "Construction Contracts", IAS 18 "Revenue" and related 
interpretations.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to depict the transfer 
of promised goods or services to customers.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control of the goods or services underlying the particular performance 
obligation is transferred to the customer.  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been introduced, 
which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized. 



16

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

2   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Corporation performed a detailed review of its contracts and sales terms and conditions with its customers and assessed the impact of applying the IFRS 15 5-step 
approach. Most contracts entered into by the Corporation are contracts for which the sale of finished goods is generally the only expected performance obligation. The 
Corporation concluded that revenues should be recognized when control of the assets is transferred to the customer, usually when goods are shipped to the customer, in 
accordance with its current practice.

For some contracts under which the Corporation provides custom goods or services and has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed, the criteria to 
recognize revenue over-time might be met and allow the Corporation to recognize revenues earlier.

Certain contracts with customers contain incentives, including the payment of discounts based on quantities purchased. These incentives represent variable consideration 
under IFRS 15 and should be estimated and recognized as a deduction of related revenues. Currently, the Corporation recognizes revenues net of provisions for customer 
incentives. The Corporation concluded that the new IFRS 15 guidance on variable consideration will not have an impact on the recognition of incentive programs in its 
consolidated financial statements.

The Corporation expects to adopt IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method and recognize the impact of adopting that standard at the date of initial application, which 
is October 29, 2018. The Corporation is finalizing the revision of its policies, procedures and controls to comply with the requirements of IFRS 15, in particular with respect 
to additional disclosures. Based on the analysis performed to date, the Corporation does not expect that the cumulative impact on retained earnings as at October 29, 2018 
will be significant.

• Leases
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 "Leases". IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 "Leases" and IFRIC 4 "Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease".

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, the lessee and the lessor. The standard 
brings most leases in the lessee's statement of financial position under a single model, eliminating the previous classifications of operating and finance leases. The only 
exemptions to this treatment are for lease contracts with a term of less than one year and those for which the underlying asset is of low value. This accounting treatment will 
result in the grossing up of the statement of financial position due to a right-of-use asset being recognized with an offsetting liability representing the obligation to make lease 
payments. IFRS 16 will be applicable to the Corporation for the annual period beginning on October 28, 2019, with earlier application permitted. The extent of the impact of 
the adoption of this standard on the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation has not yet been determined.

• Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
In June 2016, the IASB issued "Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions", which amends IFRS 2 "Share-based Payment", which clarifies how 
to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions, such as the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based 
payments. These amendments are applicable to the Corporation for the annual period beginning on October 29, 2018, and are applicable to awards granted on or after that 
date and to unvested and vested but unexercised awards outstanding at that date. The amendments are to be applied prospectively, with retrospective application permitted. 
The extent of the impact of the adoption of this standard on the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation has not yet been determined.

• Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)
On February 7, 2018, the IASB issued "Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)". The amendments apply for plan amendments, curtailments 
or settlements that will occur during annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, or the date on which they are first applied. Earlier application is permitted. The 
amendments to IAS 19 clarify that:

• on amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a company now uses updated actuarial assumptions to determine its current service cost and net 
interest for the period; and

• the effect of the asset ceiling is disregarded when calculating the gain or loss on any settlement of the plan. 

The Corporation intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 19 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on October 28, 2019. The extent of the 
impact of the adoption of the amendments will be assessed upon any future amendment, curtailment or settlement of defined benefit plans.

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
On June 7, 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 23 "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments". The Interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for current and 
deferred tax liabilities and assets in circumstances in which there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation is applicable for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted. The Interpretation requires:

• an entity to determine whether uncertain tax treatments should be considered separately, or together as a group, based on which approach provides better predictions 
of the resolution; 

• an entity to consider whether it is probable that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment; and
• if it is not probable that the uncertain tax treatment will be accepted, measure the tax uncertainty based on the most likely amount or expected value, depending on 

whichever method better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.

The Corporation intends to adopt the Interpretation in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on October 28, 2019. The extent of the impact of 
adoption of the Interpretation has not yet been determined.
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3   SEGMENTED INFORMATION

During the year ended October 28, 2018, in connection with changes in the organizational structure and following the acquisition of Coveris Americas (Note 4), the Corporation's 
operating segments have been modified and are now aggregated by management into three separate sectors: Packaging, Printing and Media. The Corporation restated the 
corresponding segmented information for previous periods.

The Packaging Sector, which specializes in extrusion, lamination, printing and converting packaging solutions, generates revenues from the manufacturing of flexible plastic 
and paper products, including rollstock, bags and pouches, coextruded films, shrink films and bags, and advanced coatings. Its facilities are mainly located in the United States, 
Canada and Latin America.

The Printing Sector generates revenues from an integrated service offering for retailers, including premedia services, flyer and in-store marketing product printing, and door-to-
door distribution, as well as an array of innovative print solutions for newspapers, magazines, 4-colour books and personalized and mass marketing products. Its facilities are 
located in Canada.

The "Other" column includes the Media Sector, which previously was reported separately, certain head office costs as well as the elimination of inter-segment sales. The Media 
sector generates revenues from print and digital publishing products, in French and English, of the following type: educational books, specialized publications for professionals 
and newspapers. Inter-segment sales of the Corporation are recognized at agreed transfer prices, which approximate fair value. Transactions other than sales are recognized 
at carrying amount.

The following tables present the various segment components of the Consolidated Statements of Earnings:

Consolidated
Year ended October 28, 2018 Packaging Printing Other Results

Revenues $ 976.6 $ 1,545.2 $ 101.7 $ 2,623.5
Operating expenses 869.6 1,110.7 91.3 2,071.6
Restructuring and other costs 8.0 9.2 (8.6) 8.6
Impairment of assets — 3.5 3.1 6.6

Operating earnings before depreciation and amortization (1) 99.0 421.8 15.9 536.7
Depreciation and amortization 77.1 81.1 10.9 169.1

Operating earnings $ 21.9 $ 340.7 $ 5.0 $ 367.6

Adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization (1) $ 116.5 $ 332.4 $ 10.4 $ 459.3
Adjusted operating earnings (1) 79.6 277.3 (0.1) 356.8

Acquisitions of non-current assets (2) $ 29.9 $ 33.7 $ 15.1 $ 78.7
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3   SEGMENTED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Consolidated
Year ended October 29, 2017 Packaging Printing Other Results

Revenues $ 308.2 $ 1,501.0 $ 198.0 $ 2,007.2
Operating expenses 272.2 1,130.5 207.8 1,610.5
Restructuring and other costs (gains) (1.4) 6.1 (18.3) (13.6)
Impairment of assets — 0.1 4.8 4.9

Operating earnings before depreciation and amortization (1) 37.4 364.3 3.7 405.4
Depreciation and amortization 20.3 68.8 14.3 103.4

Operating earnings $ 17.1 $ 295.5 $ (10.6) $ 302.0

Adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization (1) $ 36.0 $ 370.5 $ (9.8) $ 396.7
Adjusted operating earnings (1) 28.0 305.8 (23.1) 310.7

Acquisitions of non-current assets (2) $ 8.8 $ 23.4 $ 16.2 $ 48.4

(1) The Corporation’s officers mainly make decisions and assess segment performance based on adjusted operating earnings. Adjusted operating earnings before depreciation 
and amortization and adjusted operating earnings exclude restructuring and other costs (gains), impairment of assets, amortization of intangible assets arising from business 
combinations, reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold in connection with business acquisitions, as well as the accelerated recognition of deferred revenues and 
accelerated depreciation of equipments as part of the new agreement with Hearst signed in December 2017 (Note 31) (only for adjusted operating earnings as it relates to 
accelerated depreciation of equipments). 

During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation updated the definition of adjusted operating earnings, which now excludes the amortization of  intangible assets arising 
from business combinations and the reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold in connection with business acquisitions. This modification of definition had no impact 
on the Corporation's consolidated financial statements, other than segmented information presentation.

(2) These amounts include internally generated intangible assets, acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, excluding those acquired in business 
combinations, whether they were paid or not.

Following changes to its organizational structure and its operating segments, the Corporation reviewed its groups of cash-generating units ("CGUs"), for which goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. This review had no impact other than revising the groups of CGUs and the level at which goodwill is tested for impairment, as 
well as merging the goodwill allocated to the former Flexible Packaging Group with the goodwill of the Americas Group of the Packaging Sector, as disclosed in Note 15 to the 
Corporation's annual consolidated financial statements as of October 29, 2017. Goodwill of other sectors were already separately tested and presented.

Just before the change to the operating segments, the Corporation performed an impairment test for each cash generating unit subject to the change and no impairment losses 
were recognized.
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3   SEGMENTED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Corporation's revenues by main products and services are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017 (1)

Packaging products $ 976.6 $ 308.2
Printing products 1,344.9 1,265.1
Publishing and content products 167.6 291.7
Other 134.4 142.2

$ 2,623.5 $ 2,007.2

The Corporation's total assets by segment are as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

2018 2017 (1)

Packaging $ 2,524.5 $ 480.1
Printing 1,052.9 1,208.3
Other (2) 204.8 448.3

$ 3,782.2 $ 2,136.7

(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.

(2) This heading includes mainly cash, accounts receivable, income taxes receivable, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, deferred taxes and defined benefit asset 
not allocated to segments.

The various geographic segment components in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
Geographic segments 2018 2017

Revenues
Canada

Domestic $ 1,478.9 $ 1,529.4
Exports 136.2 128.4

United States 867.3 349.4
Other 141.1 —

$ 2,623.5 $ 2,007.2
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3   SEGMENTED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

2018 2017

Non-current assets (1)

Canada $ 798.7 $ 794.4
United States 1,658.0 423.2
Other 359.0 —

$ 2,815.7 $ 1,217.6

(1) These amounts include property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and other non-current assets, and exclude derivative financial instruments, deferred taxes, 
defined benefit asset and investments in joint ventures.

4   BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND DISPOSALS

Transactions for the year ended October 28, 2018 

Business combinations

• Coveris Americas
On May 1, 2018, the Corporation completed the acquisition of all the shares of Coveris Americas previously held by Coveris Holdings S.A. ("CHSA") (the "Acquisition"). 
Headquartered in Chicago, Coveris Americas manufactures a variety of flexible plastic and paper products, including rollstock, bags and pouches, coextruded films, shrink 
films, coated substrates and labels. The Acquisition of Coveris Americas is in line with our growth strategy and allows the Corporation to become a North American leader in 
flexible packaging.

The cash consideration was $1,536.6 million (US$1,194.2 million), including customary adjustments for working capital. At Acquisition date, the Corporation financed the 
consideration paid as well as the acquisition costs out of a combination of:

• cash-on-hand for an amount of $228.0 million;
• an amount drawn from existing credit facilities of $222.3 million, in the form of an amount of $55.0 million and US$130.0 million ($167.3 million) (Note 18);
• an amount drawn from new credit facilities of $965.0 million (US$750.0 million) (Note 18); and
• the net proceeds from a bought deal public offering of subscription receipts of $274.9 million (Note 21).

During the year ended October 28, 2018, acquisition costs of $14.1 million, and integration costs related to the acquisition of $11.7 million were expensed and recorded under 
Restructuring and other costs (gains) (Note 6).

The acquisition of Coveris Americas has been accounted for using the acquisition method. Coveris Americas has been consolidated from the Acquisition date. The provisional 
purchase price allocation and the total cash consideration paid are presented in the table below. Management’s provisional measurement of the fair values of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed based on best estimates taking into account all relevant information available is also presented in the table below. Because the Company recently 
acquired Coveris Americas, it is not reasonably practical to definitively allocate the purchase price as at October 28, 2018. The accounting for the business combination is 
expected to be completed as soon as management has gathered all of the relevant information available and considered necessary in order to finalize this allocation, no later 
than 12 months after the Acquisition date. The process may result in transferring amounts to or from assets acquired, liabilities assumed and goodwill. Any adjustment to 
provisional amounts will be retrospectively recognized as at the acquisition date to reflect information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed and, if known, 
would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as at the acquisition date.

As at October 28, 2018, although the measurement process is already well underway, the Corporation had not yet finalized the fair value measurement of the following main 
items:

• intangible assets;
• real estate leases, and
• determination of deferred income taxes.

The measurement process for these elements will continue over the next months. The final purchase price allocation could differ significantly from the amounts presented 
below and could also give rise to favorable or unfavorable impacts, among other things, on the currently recorded amount of amortization and depreciation and income tax 
expenses, which would be recognized retrospectively as at the acquisition date.

The fair value of receivables acquired of $189.0 million, which includes a negligible amount deemed uncollectible as at the acquisition date, and inventories of $177.1 million 
is included in the current assets in the provisional accounting of this business combination. 
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4   BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND DISPOSALS (CONTINUED)

• Coveris Americas (continued)
The acquisition of Coveris Americas gave rise to goodwill because the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected 
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce.

During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation entered into foreign exchange contracts to purchase approximately US$477.5 million in order to hedge the foreign 
exchange exposure of the transaction. Prior to their settlement during the year ended October 28, 2018, these foreign exchange contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting, 
and their measurement to fair value was recorded under Net financial expenses. These contracts generated a gain of $1.3 million.

The Corporation's Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the year ended October 28, 2018 include the operating results of Coveris Americas since its acquisition date, 
including additional revenues of $629.9 million, and operating earnings before depreciation and amortization of $75.1 million, including adjustments related to the accounting 
of this acquisition and excluding acquisition costs and integration costs related to the acquisition of $7.4 million incurred by Coveris Americas, and excluding the reversal of 
the fair value adjustment of inventory sold of $9.5 million.

If the Corporation had acquired Coveris Americas at the beginning of the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation estimates that its revenues would have increased 
by an additional amount of $610.2 million and its operating earnings before depreciation and amortization would have increased by an additional amount of $80.9 million. To 
determine these amounts, the Corporation made the assumption that fair value adjustments at the acquisition date would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred 
on October 30, 2017.

• Flexipak
On October 31, 2017, the Corporation acquired all the shares of Les Industries Flexipak Inc. ("Flexipak"), a flexible packaging supplier located in Montréal, Quebec, for a 
purchase price of $10.7 million, including a contingent cash consideration of $0.2 million payable following the achievement of pre-established financial performance 
thresholds.This acquisition allows the Corporation to pursue its development in the packaging industry. 

During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation finalized the purchase price allocation analysis of Flexipak as well as the accounting for this acquisition. Changes 
in the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the year ended October 28, 2018 are negligible and reflected in the table below.

• Contech
On January 9, 2018, the Corporation acquired Contech, a leader in the construction industry for training, trade show planning, networking events and competitions for 
construction professionals in Québec for a purchase price of $0.7 million. This acquisition is a natural fit for the Corporation's offering and strengthens its position as a leader 
in strategic information for the construction sector in Quebec.

• Multifilm
On March 7, 2018, the Corporation acquired Multifilm Packaging Corporation (''Multifilm''), a flexible packaging supplier located in Elgin, Illinois, for a purchase price 
of $60.3 million, subject to adjustments and including a contingent cash consideration of $15.1 million payable following the achievement of pre-established financial 
performance. This acquisition is aligned with the growth strategy for the Packaging Sector.

During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation finalized the purchase price allocation analysis of Multifilm as well as the accounting for this acquisition. Changes 
in the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the year ended October 28, 2018 are negligible and reflected in the table below.

• Somabec
On October 2, 2018, the Corporation acquired Somabec Ltd ("Somabec), a pan-Canadian distributor of French-language books, and Edisem ("Edisem"), a publishing house 
(collectively, "Somabec"), for a purchase price of $1.3 million. This acquisition enables the Corporation to optimize its offering in the higher education markets.

The Corporation's Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the year ended October 28, 2018 include the operating results of Flexipak, Contech, Multifilm and Somabec since 
their acquisition date, including additional revenues of $40.4 million, and operating earnings before depreciation and amortization of $6.1 million, including adjustments related 
to the accounting of these acquisitions. The fair value of receivables acquired of $6.5 million is included in current assets in the provisional accounting of these business 
combinations. 

If the Corporation had acquired these companies at the beginning of the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation estimates that its revenues would have increased by 
an additional amount of $13.2 million and and its operating earnings before depreciation and amortization would have increased by an additional amount of $1.4 million. To 
determine these amounts, the Corporation made the assumption that fair value adjustments at the acquisition date would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred 
on October 30, 2017.
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4   BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND DISPOSALS (CONTINUED)

• Purchase price allocation
The following table presents the value of the acquired companies' assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Coveris Other
Americas acquisitions (1) Total

Assets acquired
Current assets (including cash acquired of $21.9) $ 392.0 $ 16.7 $ 408.7
Property, plant and equipment 436.0 28.2 464.2
Intangible assets 585.5 30.1 615.6
Goodwill (no tax value) 594.9 36.0 630.9
Deferred taxes 0.3 — 0.3
Other assets 1.4 — 1.4

2,010.1 111.0 2,121.1

Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities 200.1 6.4 206.5
Long-term debt and finance leases (current portion included) (2) 151.0 18.9 169.9
Pension benefits and other post-employment benefit plans 17.2 — 17.2
Deferred taxes 102.9 11.8 114.7
Other liabilities 2.3 — 2.3

473.5 37.1 510.6
$ 1,536.6 $ 73.9 $ 1,610.5

Total consideration
Cash paid $ 1,536.6 $ 58.6 $ 1,595.2
Short-term contingent consideration payable — 0.2 0.2
Long-term contingent consideration payable — 15.1 15.1

$ 1,536.6 $ 73.9 $ 1,610.5

(1) Other acquisitions include Flexipak, Multifilm, Contech and Somabec.

(2) As at October 28, 2018, long-term debt and certain finance leases of Coveris Americas totalling $143.9 million had been repaid by the Corporation. With respect to the 
other acquisitions, long-term debt of $18.9 million has also been repaid by the Corporation as at October 28, 2018.

Business disposals

• Sale of local and regional newspapers in Quebec
During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation disposed of several groups of local and regional newspapers in Quebec, representing a total of 67 newspapers 
and web-related properties, in exchange for a cash consideration and an amount receivable. These transactions are part of the sale process of local and regional newspapers 
in Quebec and Ontario announced by the Corporation on April 18, 2017.

• Sale of CEDROM-SNi
On December 20, 2017, the Corporation announced the sale of CEDROM-SNi, an equity investment owned at 50% and which was accounted for using the equity method, 
in exchange for a cash consideration and an amount receivable.
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4   BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND DISPOSALS (CONTINUED)

Transactions for the year ended October 29, 2017 

Business combinations

• Advisor and Financial Services Groups
On December 1, 2016, the Corporation acquired all B2B brands of the Advisor and Financial Services Groups from Rogers Media Inc. ("Advisor and Financial Services 
Groups") for a total consideration of $3.9 million paid in cash. During the year ended October 29, 2017, the Corporation completed its final assessment of the fair value of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed related to this combination. The assets acquired are mainly comprised of intangible assets of $3.7 million and goodwill of $0.8 million, 
partially offset by a negligible amount of liabilities assumed. This acquisition was in line with the corporate strategy to grow specialized products and services offering in the 
Media Sector, reinforcing its actual B2B brands portfolio. The Corporation's Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the year ended October 29, 2017 includes the operating 
results of Advisor and Financial Services Groups since its acquisition date. If the Corporation had acquired this business on November 1, 2016, the Corporation's Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings would not have been significantly impacted.

• Other business combinations
During the year ended October 29, 2017, amounts of $7.8 million and $4.6 million were paid for contingent considerations related to acquisitions completed in 2016 and 
2015, respectively, and an amount of $0.4 million was received related to an acquisition completed in 2016. In addition, the Corporation completed its final assessment of 
the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Flexstar Packaging Inc., acquired on October 14, 2016. Changes in the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed were negligible.

Business disposals

• Atlantic media assets
On April 12, 2017 the Corporation sold its Atlantic media assets for a cash consideration and an amount receivable. The transaction included 28 brands and web-related
properties, four printing plants operated within the Media Sector, commercial printing activities in Newfoundland and Labrador, and distribution activities in
Atlantic Canada. During the year ended October 29, 2017, the Corporation paid the final amount for the working capital adjustment.

• Local and regional newspapers in Quebec and Ontario
During the year ended October 29, 2017, the Corporation disposed of 11 groups of local and regional newspapers in Quebec, representing a total of 22 newspapers and 
web-related properties, as part of the sale process of its local and regional newspapers in Quebec and Ontario announced on April 18, 2017, for a cash consideration and, 
for certain of them, an amount receivable. 

The Atlantic media assets and Quebec local and regional newspapers sold did not represent a separate major line of business or geographical area as defined under IFRS. 
As a result, the sale of these newspapers was not presented as a discontinued operation during the year ended October 29, 2017.

5   OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses by major headings are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Employee-related costs $ 654.0 $ 592.0
Supply chain and logistics (1) 1,303.7 890.3
Other goods and services (2) 113.9 128.2

$ 2,071.6 $ 1,610.5

(1) "Supply chain and logistics" includes mainly production and distribution costs related to external suppliers.

(2) "Other goods and services" includes mainly promotion, advertising and telecommunications costs, office supplies, real estate expenses and professional fees. Operating 
leases recognized during the year ended October 28, 2018 represent $26.4 million ($23.2 million for the year ended October 29, 2017). Leasing and subleasing revenues 
recognized during the year ended October 28, 2018 were $3.9 million ($4.5 million for the year ended October 29, 2017).

The cost of goods sold recognized in operating expenses for the year ended October 28, 2018 was $1,599.3 million ($1,085.6 million for the year ended October 29, 2017). An 
amount of $4.9 million was recognized as inventory obsolescence expenses for the year ended October 28, 2018 ($1.1 million for the year ended October 29, 2017).
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6   RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER COSTS (GAINS)

Restructuring and other costs (gains) by major headings are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017 (1)

Workforce reductions $ 11.6 $ 13.2
Gains related to the sale of certain activities (Note 4) (2) (27.2) (24.1)
Other elements 2.7 2.0
Net gains on sale of buildings (6.5) (3.8)
Onerous contracts 2.0 0.6
Business acquisition costs (3) 14.3 0.5
Other acquisition-related costs (4) 11.7 —
Other revenues (5) — (2.0)

$ 8.6 $ (13.6)

(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.

(2) Include net gains on the sale of Quebec local and regional newspapers and Atlantic medias (Note 4) as well as a provision for impaired loan of $10.3 million related to a 
previous transaction for the year ended October 28, 2018.

(3) Business acquisition costs include transaction costs, primarily legal fees, success fees related to the acquisition and other professional fees, for potential or completed business 
combinations.

(4) Other acquisition-related costs include integration costs related to acquired companies.

(5) Other revenues mainly represent the revaluation of the considerations payable as part of business combinations (Note 4).

7   IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Impairment of assets by major headings is as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29, 
2018 2017

Property, plant and equipment $ 3.5 $ 1.2
Intangible assets 3.1 3.7

$ 6.6 $ 4.9

Property, plant, equipment
During the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, the Corporation recognized an impairment charge in respect of property, plant and equipment in the Printing 
Sector of $3.5 million, mainly related to the closure of one plant following the termination of certain newspapers, and $1.2 million, mainly with respect to production equipment 
that was no longer used, respectively.

Intangible assets
During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation performed its annual impairment test on intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, which consist of trade names 
acquired in business combinations for book publishing activities. The Corporation has concluded that the recoverable amount of the CGUs subject to the test was greater than 
their carrying amount. Therefore, the Corporation did not record any impairment charge during the year in respect of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. During the 
year ended October 29, 2017, no impairment charge had been recorded in respect of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life.  

During the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, the Corporation recognized impairment charges of  $3.1 million and $3.7 million, respectively, mainly with 
respect to costs relating to technology projects in the Media Sector following the sale of its Atlantic Canada media assets and Quebec local and regional newspapers (Note 4).

Goodwill
During the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, the Corporation performed its annual goodwill impairment  test. The Corporation concluded that the recoverable 
amount of the CGUs subject to the annual test was greater than their carrying amount. As such, no impairment charge was recorded during these years.
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7   IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Annual impairment test
As at October 28, 2018, the Corporation performed its annual impairment tests of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, in accordance with paragraph n) 
of Note 2 "Significant accounting policies".

• Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
The recoverable amounts of CGUs, established for the impairment test of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, have been determined on the basis of the value in 
use.

• Goodwill
The recoverable amounts of groups of CGUs, established for the impairment test of goodwill, have been determined based on the greater of the fair value less costs of 
disposal and the value in use.

The fair value less costs of disposal is determined using capitalization multiples applied to budget for fiscal 2019, derived from comparable companies whose activities are 
similar to the CGU or group of CGUs concerned. This information can be observed in the market. 

The value in use is determined by discounting expected future cash flows, which are derived from the three-year financial forecasts approved by management. The financial 
forecasts are based on past experience and reflect management's expectations regarding operating results and capital expenditures, taking into account the business 
strategy and economic and specific trends of the industry and market. Beyond the three-year period, cash flows are extrapolated using estimated perpetual growth or decline 
rates, which are not greater than those forecasted for specific markets in which the groups of CGUs operate.

The assumptions used by the Corporation in the future expected cash flow discounting model are classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, signifying that they are 
not based on observable market data. The Corporation performed a sensitivity analysis of capitalization multiples and operating earnings as part of its assessment of the 
recoverable amounts of the CGUs or group of CGUs tested for impairment. The results of the sensitivity analysis show that a 0.5x decrease in capitalization multiples or a 
5% decrease in operating earnings before amortization and depreciation would not change the results of the test.

The following table presents the main groups of CGUs subject to a goodwill impairment test, the basis used for the recoverable amount and key assumptions used as at the 
date of the impairment test :

Basis
Carrying used for

amount of recoverable Capitalization
goodwill amount multiple

Packaging Sector
Americas Group $ 752.8 Fair value 10.6x
Coatings Group 70.0 Fair value 10.6x

Printing Sector
Retail and Newspaper Group 211.5 Fair value 5.6x
Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group 65.4 Fair value 5.6x

The most recent calculation of the recoverable amount of Premedia Group and Book Publishing Group and CGUs related to trade names acquired in business combinations 
of book publishing activities was used for the impairment test of goodwill of these groups and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life of these groups of CGUs as at 
October 28, 2018, since all criteria described in Note 2 n) were satisfied.
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8   DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Depreciation and amortization by major headings is as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties $ 117.5 $ 77.1
Intangible assets 51.6 26.3

169.1 103.4
Intangible assets and other assets, recognized in revenues and operating expenses 24.4 24.4

$ 193.5 $ 127.8

9   NET FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Net financial expenses by major headings are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017 (1)

Financial expenses on long-term debt $ 40.7 $ 17.5
Net interest on defined benefit asset and liability (Note 27) 1.9 1.7
Other revenues (3.5) (0.9)
Net foreign exchange gains (2.6) (0.6)

$ 36.5 $ 17.7

(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year. 
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10   INCOME TAXES

The following table presents a reconciliation of income taxes at the Canadian statutory tax rate and at the effective tax rate for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Earnings before share of net earnings in interests in joint ventures and income taxes $ 331.1 $ 284.3
Canadian statutory tax rate (1) 26.72 % 26.82 %
Income taxes at the statutory tax rate 88.5 76.2
Effect of differences in tax rates in other jurisdictions (5.1) 2.1
Income taxes on non-deductible expenses and non-taxable revenues (1.1) (3.1)
Change in deferred tax assets on tax losses or temporary differences not previously recognized (1.7) (0.4)
Impact of the U.S. tax reform (2) 36.6 —
Other 0.6 (1.7)
Income taxes at effective tax rate $ 117.8 $ 73.1

Income taxes before the following items: $ 88.5 $ 73.7
Impact of the U.S. tax reform (2) 36.6 —
Income taxes on restructuring and other costs (gains) (5.6) 0.8
Income taxes on impairment of assets (1.7) (1.4)

Income taxes at effective tax rate $ 117.8 $ 73.1

(1) The Corporation's applicable tax rate corresponds to the combined Canadian tax rates applicable in the provinces where the Corporation operates.

(2) On December 22, 2017, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA") was enacted. The TCJA significantly reforms the U.S. federal tax legislation, including, but not limited to, 
reducing the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from a progressive tax rate of up to 35% to a fixed rate of 21%. The most significant impact of the TCJA on the Corporation’s 
net earnings for the year ended October 28, 2018 results from this tax rate decrease and the remeasurement of the Corporation's net deferred tax assets using the reduced tax 
rate. The Corporation recorded a tax expense of $36.6 million to reflect the remeasurement of its deferred tax assets using the enacted tax rate. The Corporation’s U.S. federal 
statutory tax rate was an average rate of 23.2 % for fiscal 2018 and will be 21% for fiscal 2019.

The Corporation's U.S. income tax provision for the year ended October 28, 2018 and the resulting income tax assets and liabilities have been determined based on the Internal 
Revenue Code and the related regulations currently enacted. The U.S. Treasury Department, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), and other standard-setting bodies will 
eventually issue guidance (which could potentially apply retroactively) on how the provisions of the TCJA will be applied or administered. This guidance could lead to an 
interpretation that is very different from ours. As such guidance is issued by the IRS or any other standard-setting body, we will reperform our analyses of relevant data and 
might have to adjust the recorded amounts. These adjustments could materially affect our financial position and results of operations as well as our effective tax rate in the 
period in which they are made.

The following table presents components of income tax expense for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Current income taxes
Current year $ 58.3 $ 49.4
Adjustment for previous years' balances (0.9) 0.5

57.4 49.9
Deferred taxes

Adjustment for previous years' balances 1.1 (1.4)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 22.4 24.4
Change in deferred tax assets on tax losses or temporary differences not previously recognized (1.7) (0.4)
Impact of tax rate changes 38.6 0.6

60.4 23.2
Income taxes $ 117.8 $ 73.1
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10   INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The following table presents components of the deferred tax asset and liability:

As at October 28, 2018 As at October 29, 2017
Asset Liability Asset Liability

Property, plant and equipment $ — $ 80.6 $ — $ 42.1
Intangible assets and goodwill — 173.5 — 38.0
Provisions 17.4 — 16.7 —
Deferred revenues 7.3 — 41.9 —
Long-term debt — 1.2 — 1.9
Defined benefit plans 14.9 — 12.5 —
Issuance of shares 3.0 — — —
Loss carryforwards 101.1 — 105.5 —
Interest expense 26.4 — — —
Other 5.2 — 0.3 —

175.3 255.3 176.9 82.0
Offsetting of assets and liabilities (156.9) (156.9) (37.9) (37.9)

$ 18.4 $ 98.4 $ 139.0 $ 44.1

Loss carryforwards included in deferred tax assets expire between 2019 and 2038.

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended October 28, 2018 are as follows:

Recognized in
Balance as at Exchange other Balance as at

October 29, Recognized in rate comprehensive Issuance Business October 28, 
2017 net earnings change income (loss) of shares combinations 2018

Property, plant and equipment $ (42.1) $ 9.8 $ (1.3) $ — — $ (47.0) $ (80.6)
Intangible assets and goodwill (38.0) 10.1 (2.8) — — (142.8) (173.5)
Provisions 16.7 (4.5) 0.2 — — 5.0 17.4
Deferred revenues 41.9 (34.1) (0.5) — — — 7.3
Long-term debt (1.9) 0.1 0.3 0.3 — — (1.2)
Defined benefit plans 12.5 (0.9) 0.2 (1.8) — 4.9 14.9
Issuance of shares — — — — 3.0 — 3.0
Loss carryforwards 105.5 (47.4) 2.0 — — 41.0 101.1
Interest expense — — 0.4 — — 26.0 26.4
Other 0.3 6.5 (0.7) 0.6 — (1.5) 5.2

$ 94.9 $ (60.4) $ (2.2) $ (0.9) 3.0 $ (114.4) $ (80.0)
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10   INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended October 29, 2017 are as follows :

Recognized in
Balance as at Exchange other Balance as at

October 30, Recognized in rate comprehensive Business October 28, 
2016 net earnings change income (loss) combinations 2017

Property, plant and equipment $ (45.9) $ 3.1 $ — $ — $ 0.7 $ (42.1)
Intangible assets and goodwill (41.9) 3.7 0.4 — (0.2) (38.0)
Provisions 16.0 1.0 (0.1) — (0.2) 16.7
Deferred revenues 59.3 (16.5) (0.9) — — 41.9
Long-term debt (2.4) 1.5 — (1.0) — (1.9)
Defined benefit plans 15.8 (0.9) — (2.4) — 12.5
Loss carryforwards 124.0 (13.8) (4.7) — — 105.5
Other 3.0 (1.3) 0.4 (0.9) (0.9) 0.3

$ 127.9 $ (23.2) $ (4.9) $ (4.3) $ (0.6) $ 94.9

As at October 28, 2018, the Corporation has $0,9 million in capital losses that can be carried forward indefinitely and for which the potential benefits have not been recognized. 
In addition, the Corporation has deductible temporary differences as well as loss carryforwards in certain states of the United States for which, considering that it is unlikely that 
a sufficient future taxable income will be available to use a portion of those items, the Corporation has not recognized a deferred tax asset totaling $32.4 million. Loss  carryforwards 
related to this unrecognized asset expire between 2019 and 2038.

As at October 28, 2018, no deferred tax liability was recognized for temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries because the Corporation controls the decisions 
affecting the realization of such liabilities and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

11   ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The components of accounts receivable are as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

2018 2017

Trade receivables $ 515.2 $ 336.1
Allowance for doubtful accounts (4.4) (5.3)
Other receivables 54.6 49.8

$ 565.4 $ 380.6

12   INVENTORIES

The components of inventories are as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

2018 2017

Raw materials $ 151.1 $ 71.4
Work in progress and finished goods 167.2 53.3
Provision for obsolescence (12.7) (7.8)

$ 305.6 $ 116.9
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13   PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The following tables present changes in property, plant and equipment and investment properties for the years ended: 

Machinery
and Assets under

equipment  construction
under and deposits

Investment Leasehold Machinery finance Other on
October 28, 2018 Land Buildings properties improvement equipment leases equipmen equipment Total

Cost
Balance, beginning of year $ 43.8 $ 228.6 $ — $ 46.7 $ 1,189.2 $ 13.0 $ 86.4 $ 15.0 $ 1,622.7

Acquisitions — 2.1 0.2 0.5 8.4 — 1.4 45.5 58.1
Transfer (Note 31) (27.4) (45.0) 72.4 — — — — — —
Made available for use — 7.3 0.1 1.3 38.5 — 1.4 (48.6) —
Business combinations

(Note 4) 20.7 70.6 — 0.2 339.1 — 3.6 30.0 464.2
Business disposals (Note 4) — (0.8) — (0.3) (0.1) — (0.2) — (1.4)
Disposals and retirement (0.9) (5.9) — (1.6) (188.1) (0.1) (11.9) (0.5) (209.0)
Exchange rate change

and other 0.3 1.5 1.3 (0.1) 4.5 — 0.3 0.4 8.2
Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ 36.5 $ 258.4 $ 74.0 $ 46.7 $ 1,391.5 $ 12.9 $ 81.0 $ 41.8 $ 1,942.8

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses

Balance, beginning of year $ — $ (121.6) $ — $ (21.9) $ (889.2) $ (13.0) $ (76.2) $ — $ (1,121.9)
Depreciation — (9.5) (0.9) (4.3) (97.1) — (5.7) — (117.5)
Transfer (Note 31) — 17.0 (17.0) — — — — — —
Business disposals (Note 4) — 0.5 — 0.2 0.1 — 0.1 — 0.9
Disposals and retirement — 2.6 — 1.3 174.1 0.1 11.6 — 189.7
Impairment losses — — — (0.2) (3.3) — — — (3.5)
Exchange rate change

and other — (0.2) (0.3) 0.2 (1.3) — (0.3) — (1.9)
Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ — $ (111.2) $ (18.2) $ (24.7) $ (816.7) $ (12.9) $ (70.5) $ — $ (1,054.2)

Net carrying amount $ 36.5 $ 147.2 $ 55.8 $ 22.0 $ 574.8 $ — $ 10.5 $ 41.8 $ 888.6
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13   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Machinery and Assets under
equipment construction

Leasehold Machinery and under finance Other and deposits
October 29, 2017 Land Buildings improvements equipment leases equipment on equipment Total

Cost
Balance, beginning of year $ 46.9 $ 242.8 $ 47.5 $ 1,197.4 $ 13.0 $ 100.6 $ 30.7 $ 1,678.9

Acquisitions — 0.4 0.6 8.0 — 0.9 23.9 33.8
Made available for use — 4.9 0.9 31.6 — 2.1 (39.5) —
Business combinations (Note 4) — — — (0.5) — — (0.1) (0.6)
Business disposals (Note 4) (1.4) (9.7) (0.9) (15.3) — (4.3) — (31.6)
Disposals and retirement (0.5) (7.1) (1.4) (25.1) — (12.1) — (46.2)
Exchange rate change

and other (1.2) (2.7) — (6.9) — (0.8) — (11.6)
Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ 43.8 $ 228.6 $ 46.7 $ 1,189.2 $ 13.0 $ 86.4 $ 15.0 $ 1,622.7

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses

Balance, beginning of year $ — $ (123.9) $ (19.8) $ (870.4) $ (13.0) $ (85.8) $ — $ (1,112.9)
Depreciation — (8.5) (3.9) (58.1) (0.1) (6.5) — (77.1)
Business disposals (Note 4) — 6.1 0.6 14.5 — 4.0 — 25.2
Disposals and retirement — 4.1 1.2 23.1 0.1 11.8 — 40.3
Impairment losses — — — (1.2) — — — (1.2)
Exchange rate change

and other — 0.6 — 2.9 — 0.3 — 3.8
Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ — $ (121.6) $ (21.9) $ (889.2) $ (13.0) $ (76.2) $ — $ (1,121.9)

Net carrying amount $ 43.8 $ 107.0 $ 24.8 $ 300.0 $ — $ 10.2 $ 15.0 $ 500.8

Borrowing costs capitalized to property, plant and equipment
For the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, negligible amounts were capitalized to property, plant and equipment as borrowing costs.
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14   INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following tables present changes in intangible assets for the years ended:

Indefinite
Finite useful life useful life

Acquired
Book printing

Customer  prepublication Educational Non-compete Technology contracts
October 28, 2018 relationships costs book titles agreements project costs and other Trade names Total

Cost
Balance, beginning of year $ 180.5 $ 143.4 $ 12.6 $ 9.7 $ 51.8 $ 15.5 $ 21.5 $ 435.0

Additions (internally generated) — 10.6 — — 4.6 — — 15.2
Acquisitions 5.4 — — — — — — 5.4
Business combinations (Note 4) 615.5 — — — 0.1 — — 615.6
Business disposals (Note 4) (2.9) — — — — (4.0) (5.5) (12.4)
Retirement (10.4) — — (2.1) (9.5) (8.2) (6.0) (36.2)
Exchange rate change

and other 11.6 — — — 0.6 — — 12.2
Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ 799.7 $ 154.0 $ 12.6 $ 7.6 $ 47.6 $ 3.3 $ 10.0 $ 1,034.8

Accumulated amortization
and impairment losses

Balance, beginning of year $ (72.8) $ (117.5) $ (10.9) $ (8.6) $ (30.9) $ (12.9) $ (10.3) $ (263.9)
Amortization (44.2) (11.6) (0.6) (0.2) (6.3) (0.4) (0.2) (63.5)
Business disposals (Note 4) 2.0 — — — — 1.8 4.2 8.0
Retirement 10.4 — — 2.1 9.5 8.2 6.0 36.2
Impairment losses — — — — (3.1) — — (3.1)
Exchange rate change

and other (0.8) — — — (0.6) — — (1.4)
Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ (105.4) $ (129.1) $ (11.5) $ (6.7) $ (31.4) $ (3.3) $ (0.3) $ (287.7)

Net carrying amount $ 694.3 $ 24.9 $ 1.1 $ 0.9 $ 16.2 $ — $ 9.7 $ 747.1
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14   INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Indefinite
Finite useful life useful life

Acquired
Book printing

Customer  prepublication Educational Non-compete Technology contracts
October 29, 2017 relationships costs book titles agreements project costs and other Trade names Total

Cost
Balance, beginning of year $ 184.5 $ 133.9 $ 12.6 $ 10.1 $ 52.8 $ 15.5 $ 115.3 $ 524.7

Additions (internally generated) — 9.5 — — 5.1 — — 14.6
Business combinations (Note 4) 2.1 — — — — — 1.6 3.7
Business disposals (Note 4) — — — — (0.9) — (95.4) (96.3)
Retirement (1.7) — — (0.4) (5.2) — — (7.3)
Exchange rate change

and other (4.4) — — — — — — (4.4)
Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ 180.5 $ 143.4 $ 12.6 $ 9.7 $ 51.8 $ 15.5 $ 21.5 $ 435.0

Accumulated amortization
and impairment losses

Balance, beginning of year $ (59.1) $ (104.8) $ (9.9) $ (8.3) $ (25.4) $ (11.6) $ (88.6) $ (307.7)
Amortization (16.5) (12.7) (1.0) (0.7) (7.4) (1.3) (0.2) (39.8)
Business disposals (Note 4) — — — — 0.4 — 78.5 78.9
Retirement 1.7 — — 0.4 5.2 — — 7.3
Impairment losses — — — — (3.7) — — (3.7)
Exchange rate change

and other 1.1 — — — — — — 1.1
Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ (72.8) $ (117.5) $ (10.9) $ (8.6) $ (30.9) $ (12.9) $ (10.3) $ (263.9)

Net carrying amount $ 107.7 $ 25.9 $ 1.7 $ 1.1 $ 20.9 $ 2.6 $ 11.2 $ 171.1
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15   GOODWILL

The following table presents changes in goodwill for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ 505.0 $ 509.7
Business combinations (Note 4) 630.9 1.6
Exchange rate change 14.1 (6.3)

Balance, end of year $ 1,150.0 $ 505.0

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the groups of CGUs as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

Operating segments 2018 2017

Packaging Sector
Americas Group (1) $ 755.5 $ —
Coatings Group 70.1 —
Flexible Packaging Group (1) — 182.5

825.6 182.5

Printing Sector
Retail and Newspaper Group 211.5 211.5
Magazine, Book and Catalogue Group 65.4 65.4
Premedia Group 12.5 12.5

289.4 289.4

Media Sector
Book Publishing Group 20.8 19.5
Business Solutions Group 14.2 13.6

35.0 33.1

$ 1,150.0 $ 505.0

(1) The Corporation aggregated the goodwill previously allocated to the Flexible Packaging Group and the goodwill of the group of CGUs comprising the Americas Group resulting 
from the acquisition of Coveris Americas (Note 4) due to the synergies expected between existing pre-acquisition packaging activities and those of Coveris Americas in the 
Americas.
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16   OTHER ASSETS

The components of other assets are as follows: 

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

2018 2017 (1)

Contract acquisition costs $ 19.2 $ 21.8
Defined benefit asset (Note 27) 5.0 2.6
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 0.1 1.8
Other 10.7 14.4

$ 35.0 $ 40.6

(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year. 

17   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29,

2018 2017 (1)

Accounts payable and other accruals $ 267.4 $ 159.8
Salaries and other benefits payable 104.7 85.6
Stock-based compensation (Note 23) 12.5 16.9
Derivative financial instruments 0.6 0.1
Financial expenses payable 9.9 6.1
Other 36.5 36.2

$ 431.6 $ 304.7

(1) Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year. 
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18   LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is as follows:

Effective interest As at As at
rate as at October 28, October 29, 

October 28, 2018 Maturity 2018 2017

Senior unsecured notes - 3.897% 4.03 % 2019 $ 250.0 $ 250.0
Credit facility in U.S. dollars 4.01 2023 130.8 —
Term loans - US$750 million 4.06 2020 à 2023 981.0 —
Debentures - Fonds de solidarité FTQ

Series 1 - 5.58% — 2019 — 50.0
Series 2 - 4.011% — 2020 — 50.0

Unified Debenture - Fonds de solidarité FTQ - 4.784% 4.84 2028 100.0 —
Finance leases — 5.8 —

1,467.6 350.0
Issuance costs on long-term debt at amortized cost 6.6 1.7
Total long-term debt 1,461.0 348.3
Current portion of long-term debt 251.2 —

$ 1,209.8 $ 348.3

Senior unsecured notes
The senior unsecured notes, amounting to $250.0 million, bear interest at 3.897% and mature in 2019. Interest is payable every six months. The notes are direct unsecured 
obligations of the Corporation and rank pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the Corporation. 

Credit facility extension
The Corporation has a credit facility amounting to $400.0 million or the U.S. dollar equivalent, which was maturing in February 2022, and for which maturity was extended on 
December 22, 2017 to February 2023 on the same terms. The applicable interest rate on the credit facility is based on the credit rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s and 
DBRS. According to the current credit rating, it is either the bank prime rate, the banker’s acceptance rate or LIBOR, plus 1.675%, or the Canadian or U.S. prime rate, plus 
0.675%. As at October 28, 2018, the nominal rate was 3.51% and 3.72% for the credit facility in Canadian dollars and in U.S. dollars, respectively.

As at October 28, 2018, an amount of $130.8 million had been drawn on the existing credit facilities, and no letter of credit had been issued, and the unused amount under the 
credit facility was $269.2 million.

The Corporation had two revolving and uncommitted letters of credit facilities, for an aggregate amount of $30.0 million, which were maturing on April 11, 2018. During the year 
ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation renewed its letters of credit facilities, which no longer have a maturity date. The fees applicable to the issued portion of these letter of 
credit facilities are 0.80% annually. As at October 28, 2018, letters of credit amounting to $28.7 million ($17.6 million as at October 29, 2017) were issued on these facilities, 
mainly to secure unpaid contributions with respect to the solvency deficiency of the Corporation's defined benefit plans (Note 27 "Employee benefits").
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18   LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

Issuance of term loans
On May 1, 2018, in connection with the acquisition of Coveris Americas (Note 4), the Corporation entered into an agreement to issue new non-revolving credit facilities in the 
form of six tranches of term loans issued in U.S. dollars (the "Term loans"), having the following characteristics at issuance :

Equivalent
Issued amount amount in CAD

in USD at issuance date Maturity

Term loans
Term loan A $ 112.5 $ 144.8 2020
Term loan B 112.5 144.8 2021
Term loan C 150.0 192.9 2021
Term loan D 150.0 192.9 2022
Term loan E 112.5 144.8 2022
Term loan F 112.5 144.8 2023

$ 750.0 $ 965.0

Term loans bear interest at US base rate or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.70% to 1.70%, payable every six months, and are repayable over a period between 
30 to 60 months, depending on the tranche.

Issuance costs totalling $5.3 million were incurred and recorded against long-term debt, and will be amortized using the effective interest method over the duration of the Term 
loans.

Hedging instruments
During the year ended October 28, 2018, an average amount of US$187.0 million ($254.4 million) of the Term loans and credit facility denominated in U.S. dollars had been 
designated by the Corporation as hedging instruments of its net investment in foreign operations. As there was no hedge ineffectiveness during the year ended October 28, 
2018, there was no impact on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Consequently, a foreign exchange loss of $4.0 million was reclassified to other comprehensive income.

Modifications of Debentures - Fonds de solidarité FTQ
On July 13, 2018, the Corporation modified certain terms of its Debentures - Fonds de solidarité FTQ  Series 1 - 5.58 % and Series 2 - 4.011 % of $50.0 million each, by merging 
them into a single debenture (the "Unified Debenture - Fonds de solidarité FTQ" or the "Unified Debenture") of $100.0 million, bearing interest at 4.784%, payable every six 
months, and maturing on February 1, 2028. The Corporation incurred financing fees of $0.5 million, to be amortized using the effective interest method over the duration of the 
Unified Debenture.

The Corporation must comply with certain restrictive covenants, including maintaining certain financial ratios. During the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, 
the Corporation has not been in default under any covenants.

Principal payments to be made by the Corporation in forthcoming years are as follows:

Principal
payments

2019 $ 251.2
2020 148.5
2021 344.8
2022 475.1
2023 148.0
After 100.0

$ 1,467.6
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19   PROVISIONS

The following table presents changes in provisions for the year ended October 28, 2018:

Restructuring Onerous
costs contracts Other Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 4.6 $ 2.5 $ 0.6 $ 7.7
Provisions recorded 11.7 2.0 0.3 14.0
Amounts used (13.7) (2.2) (0.3) (16.2)
Provisions reversed (0.1) (0.1) (0.2) (0.4)
Business combinations — 0.9 — 0.9

Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ 2.5 $ 3.1 $ 0.4 $ 6.0

Current portion $ 2.5 $ 1.2 $ — $ 3.7
Non-current portion — 1.9 0.4 2.3

$ 2.5 $ 3.1 $ 0.4 $ 6.0

Restructuring costs
The Corporation is implementing rationalization measures in its operating segments due to major structural changes in the printing and media industry. In addition, in connection 
with the acquisition of Coveris Americas, the Corporation incurred workforce reduction and retention costs.

Onerous contracts
The provisions for onerous contracts are related to the operating leases for space not used by the Corporation following rationalization measures, and represent the present 
value of future rental expenses that the Corporation must pay under non-cancellable leases, net of estimated future subleasing revenues expected to be received on these 
contracts. The maximum term of these contracts is 4.5 years.

20   OTHER LIABILITIES 

The components of other liabilities are as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29, 

2018 2017

Deferred revenues $ 21.8 $ 84.1
Accrued liabilities and other liabilities 24.4 8.6
Stock-based compensation (Note 23) 11.0 15.8
Defined benefit liability (Note 27) 63.0 50.5
Derivative financial instruments 0.1 —

$ 120.3 $ 159.0
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21   SHARE CAPITAL

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares: subordinate participating voting shares carrying one vote per share, authorized in unlimited number, no par value.
Class B Shares: participating voting shares carrying 20 votes per share, convertible into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, authorized in unlimited 

number, no par value.

The following table presents changes in the Corporation's share capital for the years ended:

October 28, 2018 October 29, 2017
Number of Number of

shares Amount shares Amount

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
Balance, beginning of year 63,567,144 $ 352.6 62,886,445 $ 342.8

Conversion of Class B Shares into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares 4,600 — 89,100 0.1
Shares redeemed and cancelled (1,022,290) (7.1) (2,663) —
Issuance of shares through a public offering, net of issuance costs 10,810,000 277.9 — —
Exercise of stock options — — 594,262 9.7

Balance, end of year 73,359,454 623.4 63,567,144 352.6

Class B Shares
Balance, beginning of year 13,985,526 19.0 14,074,626 19.1

Conversion of Class B Shares into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares (4,600) — (89,100) (0.1)
Balance, end of year 13,980,926 19.0 13,985,526 19.0

87,340,380 $ 642.4 77,552,670 $ 371.6

Issuance of shares
In connection with the acquisition of Coveris Americas (Note 4), the Corporation issued 10,810,000 subscription receipts on April 20, 2018 through a bought-deal public offering. 
On May 1, 2018, upon final closing of the acquisition of Coveris Americas, each subscription receipt entitled its holder to automatically receive, without payment of additional 
consideration or further action, one Class A Subordinate Voting Share of the Corporation.

Shares issued in exchange for subscription receipts were as follows:

Public
offering

Number of shares issued in exchange for subscription receipts 10,810,000
Price per subscription receipt (in $) $ 26.60
Gross proceeds 287.5
Less: Share issuance costs (12.6)
Plus: Income taxes related to share issuance costs 3.0
Shares issued in exchange for subscription receipts $ 277.9
Less: Non-cash income taxes related to common share issuance costs $ (3.0)
Net proceeds from shares issued in exchange for subscription receipts $ 274.9

Issuance costs of $9.6 million, net of taxes, were recorded against share capital upon issuance of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. 

Share redemptions
The Corporation has been authorized to repurchase, for cancellation on the open market, or subject to the approval of any securities authority by private agreements, between 
October 1, 2018 and September 30, 2019, or at an earlier date if the Corporation concludes or cancels the offer, up to 1,000,000 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and 
up to 189,344 of its Class B Shares. The repurchases were made in the normal course of business at market prices through the Toronto Stock Exchange.

The Corporation had been authorized to repurchase, for cancellation on the open market, or subject to the approval of any securities authority by private agreements, between         
April 17, 2017 and April 16, 2018, or at an earlier date if the Corporation concludes or cancels the offer, up to 2,000,000 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and up to 
442,349 of its Class B Shares. The repurchases were made in the normal course of business at market prices through the Toronto Stock Exchange.
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21   SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Corporation had been authorized to repurchase, for cancellation on the open market, or subject to the approval of any securities authority by private agreements, between 
April 15, 2016 and April 14, 2017, or at an earlier date if the Corporation concludes or cancels the offer, up to 2,000,000 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and up to 
226,344 of its Class B Shares. The repurchases were made in the normal course of business at market prices through the Toronto Stock Exchange.

During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation repurchased and cancelled 1,022,290 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at a weighted average price of $23.13, 
for a total cash consideration of $23.6 million. The Corporation was under no obligation to repurchase its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as at October 28, 2018. During the 
year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation did not repurchase any of its Class B Shares, and was under no obligation as such at that date.

During the year ended October 29, 2017, the Corporation repurchased and cancelled 2,663 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at a weighted average price of $17.48, for  
for a total negligible consideration. The Corporation was under no obligation to repurchase its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as at October 29, 2017. During the year ended 
October 29, 2017, the Corporation did not repurchase any of its Class B Shares, and was under no obligation as such at that date.

Exercise of stock options
When officers and senior executives exercise their stock options, any consideration paid is credited to share capital and the amount previously credited to contributed surplus 
is also transferred to share capital. During the year ended October 28, 2018, no stock options were exercised.  For the year ended October 29, 2017, consideration of $7.6
million was received, and $2.1 million was transferred from contributed surplus to share capital.

Dividends
Dividends of $0.830 and $0.785 per share were declared and paid to the holders of shares for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, respectively.

22   NET EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table presents a reconciliation of the components used in the calculation of basic and diluted net earnings per share for the years ended:

October 28, October 29, 
2018 2017

Numerator
Net earnings $ 213.4 $ 211.5

Denominator (in millions)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic 82.5 77.3
Dilutive effect of stock options 0.1 0.2
Weighted average number of shares - diluted 82.6 77.5

As at October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, all stock options were included in the calculation of diluted net earnings due to their potential dilutive effect.
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23   STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

Stock option plan
The Corporation has a stock option plan for certain officers and senior executives. The number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares authorized for issuance and the balance 
of shares that are issuable under the plan as at October 28, 2018 were 6,078,562 and 3,583,635, respectively. Under the plan, each stock option entitles its holder to receive 
upon exercise one Class A Subordinate Voting Share. The exercise price of each option is determined using the weighted average price of all trades for the five days immediately 
preceding the grant of the stock option. The Corporation has ceased granting stock options during the year ended October 31, 2014.

For the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, stock-based compensation expenses of negligible amounts, respectively, were charged to the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings and increased contributed surplus included in equity.

The following table presents the changes in the plan's status for the years ended:

October 28, 2018 October 29, 2017
Weighted Weighted

average average
Number exercise Number exercise

of options price of options price

Options outstanding at beginning of year 135,240 $ 11.33 729,502 $ 12.60
Exercised — — (594,262) 12.89

Options outstanding at end of year 135,240 $ 11.33 135,240 $ 11.33
Options exercisable at the end of year 135,240 $ 11.33 135,240 $ 11.33

As at October 28, 2018, the balance of stock options available for future grants under the plan was 3,448,395.

As at October 28, 2018, the exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year was $11.33 and their remaining contractual life was 1.2 years.

Share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives
The Corporation offers a share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives under which deferred share units ("DSUs") and restricted share units ("RSUs") are granted. 
Vested DSUs and RSUs will be settled, at the Corporation's discretion, in cash or with Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Corporation purchased on the open market.

The following table presents the changes in the plan's status for the years ended:

October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29, 
Number of units 2018 2017 2018 2017

DSUs  RSUs

Balance, beginning of year 289,786 274,168 957,312 1,069,860
Units granted 18,278 13,545 293,880 248,371
Units cancelled (4,129) — (28,944) (6,198)
Units paid (5,613) (6,907) (353,927) (382,726)
Units converted (35) — 35 —
Dividends paid in units 9,748 8,980 26,544 28,005

Balance, end of year 308,035 289,786 894,900 957,312

As at October 28, 2018, the liability related to the share unit plan for certain officers and senior executives was $18.1 million, including $11.0 million presented under Other 
liabilities ($25.1 million as at October 29, 2017, including $15.8 million presented under Other liabilities). The expenses recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017 were $2.9 million and $16.6 million, respectively. Amounts totalling $9.9 million and $8.0 million were paid under 
this plan for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, respectively.



42

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

23   STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)

Share unit plan for directors
The Corporation offers a deferred share unit plan for its directors. Under this plan, directors may elect to receive as compensation either cash, deferred share units, or a 
combination of both.

The following table presents the changes in the plan's status for the years ended:

October 28, October 29, 
Number of units 2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year 268,551 377,901
Directors' compensation 28,925 25,931
Units paid (55,928) (145,014)
Dividends paid in units 7,720 9,733

Balance, end of year 249,268 268,551

As at October 28, 2018, the liability related to the share unit plan for directors was $5.4 million ($7.6 million as at October 29, 2017). The expense (gain) recorded in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017 were $(0.8) million and $4.4 million, respectively. Amounts totalling $1.4 million 
and $3.6 million were paid under this plan for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, respectively.

24   ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Actuarial
gains and Accumulated

Cumulative losses related other
Cash flow translation  to defined comprehensive

hedges differences benefit plans income

Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ 1.0 $ 21.7 $ (28.2) $ (5.5)
Net change in gains (losses), net of income taxes (0.8) 13.8 3.3 16.3

Balance as at October 28, 2018 $ 0.2 $ 35.5 $ (24.9) $ 10.8

Balance as at October 31, 2016 $ (1.6) $ 38.7 $ (34.4) $ 2.7
Net change in gains (losses), net of income taxes 2.6 (17.0) 6.2 (8.2)

Balance as at October 29, 2017 $ 1.0 $ 21.7 $ (28.2) $ (5.5)

As at October 28, 2018, the amounts expected to be reclassified to net earnings in future years are as follows:

2019 Total

Net change in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges $ 0.3 $ 0.3
Income taxes 0.1 0.1

$ 0.2 $ 0.2
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25   SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in non-cash operating items are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Accounts receivable $ 14.9 $ 28.4
Inventories (3.6) 0.3
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1.0) (0.6)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (99.4) (0.3)
Provisions (4.4) (5.7)
Deferred revenues and deposits (90.1) (49.9)
Defined benefit plans (1.2) (3.2)

$ (184.8) $ (31.0)

The following table presents changes in financial liabilities for the year ended October 28, 2018.

Non-cash changes
Cash flows

related to Foreign Amendments Amortization
October 29, financing Business exchange rate to existing of deferred Accrued October 28, 

2017 activities acquisitions effect contracts financing fees interest 2018

Senior unsecured notes - 3.897% $ 250.0 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 4.6 $ 254.6
Credit facility in Canadian dollars — — — — — — 0.1 0.1
Credit facility in U.S. dollars — 129.0 — 1.8 — — — 130.8
Term loans - US$750 million — 965.0 — 16.0 — — 4.0 985.0
Debentures - Fonds de solidarité

Series 1 - 5.58% 50.0 — — — (50.0) — — —
Series 2 - 4.011% 50.0 — — — (50.0) — — —

Unified Debenture - Fonds de
solidarité FTQ - 4.784$ — — — — 100.0 — 0.8 100.8

Other external debts — (164.0) 164.0 — — — — —
Unamortized financing fees (1.7) (6.2) — — — 1.3 — (6.6)
Finance leases — (0.3) 5.9 0.2 — — — 5.8
Contingent considerations 0.1 — 15.3 0.2 — — — 15.6

$ 348.4 $ 923.5 $ 185.2 $ 18.2 $ — $ 1.3 $ 9.5 $ 1,486.1
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26   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation, directly or indirectly, 
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Corporation. 

The following table presents key management personnel compensation for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Salaries and other short-term benefits $ 11.3 $ 10.9
Post-employment benefits 0.8 0.7
Stock-based compensation 1.5 17.4

$ 13.6 $ 29.0
 

27   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

The Corporation offers its employees various contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment defined benefit plans, defined contribution 
pension plans, group registered savings plans and multi-employer pension plans. Since June 1, 2010, most of the employees participate only in the defined contribution pension 
plans. For the defined benefit plans, the amount of benefits is generally calculated based on the employees’ years of service and salaries. Plan funding is calculated based on 
actuarial estimates and is subject to limitations under applicable income tax and other regulations. Actuarial estimates prepared during the year were based on assumptions 
related to projected employee compensation levels up to the time of retirement and the anticipated long-term rate of return on pension plan assets. For defined contribution 
pension plans, multi-employer pension plans and group registered savings plans, the sole obligation of the Corporation is to make the monthly employer’s contribution. Certain 
obligations of the Corporation under the defined benefit plans are secured by letters of credit, drawn on the Corporation's credit facilities, which are pledged as collateral for 
unpaid contributions with respect to the solvency deficiency of the plans. The contributions paid by the Corporation to defined contribution pension plans are expensed in the 
period in which they are earned by employees.. The assets of the Corporation's defined benefit pension plans are held in a trust and are not controlled by the Corporation. The 
Corporation recognizes the annual amounts related to its defined benefit pension plans using calculations based on various actuarial assumptions, in particular regarding discount 
rates, mortality rates and annual rates of return on plan assets. These estimates may vary significantly from period to period based on the return on plan assets, actuarial 
valuations and market conditions. The Corporation reviews its actuarial assumptions each year and revises them based on prevailing rates and current trends. The Corporation 
believes that the assumptions used to account for its accrued benefit obligation are reasonable based on its experience, market conditions and data provided by its external 
actuary and investment advisor.

Acquisition of Coveris Americas
The Corporation's employees participate in defined contribution pension plans and defined benefit pension plans. The Coveris Americas' plans were closed to new participants 
before January 1, 2014. Consequently, the calculation of final benefits under the U.S. plans represented the benefits earned under the U.S. plans as of the date these plans 
stopped accepting new participants. 

The Board of Directors of the Corporation, with assistance from the pension committee, is responsible for the oversight and governance of the pension plans. The pension 
committee assists the Board in fulfilling its general oversight responsibilities with respect to pension plans, especially with regards to investment decisions, contributions to 
defined benefit plans and the selection of investment opportunities for defined contribution plans. Pension plan assets are held in a trust, except insured annuities. The Corporation's 
pension plans are managed in accordance with Canadian and provincial, as well as with U.S. laws applicable to pension plans, which have determined minimum and maximum 
funding requirements for defined benefit pension plans.

The Corporation's funding policy is to make contributions to its pension plans based on various actuarial valuation methods, as permitted by regulatory bodies for pension plans. 
The Corporation's contributions to its pension plans reflect the most recent actuarial valuations for investment returns, salary projections and benefits related to future services . 
The funding of pension plans is based on funding measurement bases that are different from the accounting basis and for which the methods and assumptions may differ from 
those used for accounting purposes.

Defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment defined benefit plans expose the Corporation to certain risks, including investment returns, changes in the discount 
rate used to measure the obligation, the mortality rate for plan participants, inflation and health care costs.

The Corporation also offers other long-term employee benefit plans that provide for continued dental and health care benefits in case of long-term disability.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the Corporation's pension plans for funding purposes were done as at December 31, 2015 for plans registered in Quebec, as at 
December 31, 2016 for plans registered in Ontario and as at December 1, 2017 for Coveris Americas' plans registered in the United States.
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27   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

The defined benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan assets are measured on the date of the annual consolidated financial statements. The following table presents the 
changes in the defined benefit obligation and in the fair value of plan assets for the years ended:

Pension benefits Other defined benefit plans Total
October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29,

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Defined benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year $ 723.7 $ 781.4 $ 13.7 $ 13.3 $ 737.4 $ 794.7

Current service cost (1) — — 0.8 0.3 0.8 0.3
Past service cost — (0.3) — — — (0.3)
Business combinations 107.6 — 1.1 — 108.7 —
Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation 27.2 24.8 0.5 0.4 27.7 25.2
Actuarial gains or losses from:

Plan experience 0.1 1.5 (0.4) (0.1) (0.3) 1.4
Changes in demographic assumptions (0.5) 0.2 (0.4) — (0.9) 0.2
Changes in financial assumptions (30.5) (30.9) 0.1 0.9 (30.4) (30.0)

Defined benefit obligation extinguished on settlement — (1.0) — — — (1.0)
Benefits paid (65.3) (51.9) (1.1) (1.1) (66.4) (53.0)
Exchange rate change and other (0.5) (0.1) — — (0.5) (0.1)

Balance, end of year $ 761.8 $ 723.7 $ 14.3 $ 13.7 $ 776.1 $ 737.4

Fair value of plan assets
Balance, beginning of year $ 692.6 $ 737.3 $ — $ — $ 692.6 $ 737.3

Interest income on plan assets 25.8 23.5 — — 25.8 23.5
Business combinations 91.5 — — — 91.5 —
Actuarial gains or losses on plan assets (26.5) (19.0) — — (26.5) (19.0)
Administrative costs (other than asset management costs) (1.6) (1.1) — — (1.6) (1.1)
Benefits paid (65.3) (51.9) (1.1) (1.1) (66.4) (53.0)
Employer contributions 3.4 5.0 1.1 1.1 4.5 6.1
Asset distributed on settlement — (1.2) — — — (1.2)
Exchange rate change and other 1.3 — — — 1.3 —

Balance, end of year $ 721.2 $ 692.6 $ — $ — $ 721.2 $ 692.6

Plan deficit $ (40.6) $ (31.1) $ (14.3) $ (13.7) $ (54.9) $ (44.8)

Effect of the asset ceiling (3.1) (3.1) — — (3.1) (3.1)

Defined benefit liability $ (43.7) $ (34.2) $ (14.3) $ (13.7) $ (58.0) $ (47.9)

(1) The current service cost for the other defined benefit plans includes the net change in the long-term disability plan, consisting of current service cost and actuarial gains or 
losses. The past service cost for this plan is presented on a separate line.
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27   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

The defined benefit asset (liability) is included as follows in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position:

As at As at
October 28, October 29, 

2018 2017

Other assets (Note 16) $ 5.0 $ 2.6
Other liabilities (Note 20) (63) (50.5)

$ (58) $ (47.9)

The following table presents the composition of the fair value of the pension plan assets:

As at As at
October 28, October 29, 

2018 2017

Quoted in an active market
Equity securities

Canadian and foreign equities and investment funds $ 99.4 $ 70.3
Debt securities

Government and corporate bonds and investment funds 399.6 391.5
Cash and cash equivalents and investment funds 11.3 6.8

510.3 468.6
Not quoted in an active market

Insured annuities 210.9 224.0
$ 721.2 $ 692.6

As at October 28, 2018, the plan assets included shares of the Corporation amounting to $0.4 million ($0.6 million as at October 29, 2017).

The matching strategy for the Corporation's assets and liabilities consists in minimizing risk through the purchase of insured annuities and debt securities. For the years ended 
October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, the plans invested in buy-in insured annuities. Their fair value is considered equal to the defined benefit obligation for participants 
targeted by the annuities purchases, calculated using  assumptions applicable at the reporting date.

The following table presents the funded status of defined benefit plans:

Pension benefits Other defined benefit plans Total
As at As at As at As at As at As at

October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29, 
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Fair value of plan assets for funded or partially funded plans $ 721.2 $ 692.6 $ — $ — $ 721.2 $ 692.6
Defined benefit obligation of funded or partially funded plans 735.5 694.5 — — 735.5 694.5
Effect of the asset ceiling (3.1) (3.1) — — (3.1) (3.1)
Funded status of funded or 

partially funded plans - deficit $ (17.4) $ (5.0) $ — $ — $ (17.4) $ (5.0)

Defined benefit obligation of unfunded plans (26.3) (29.2) (14.3) (13.7) (40.6) (42.9)
Total funded status - deficit $ (43.7) $ (34.2) $ (14.3) $ (13.7) $ (58.0) $ (47.9)

The Corporation expects to contribute $3.1 million to its defined benefit plans during the year ending October 27, 2019, considering that it plans to use letters of credit from its 
credit facilities to secure unpaid contributions for the solvency deficiency of the defined benefit plans. The actual amount paid may differ from the estimate based on the results 
of the actuarial valuations, investment returns, volatility in discount rates, regulatory requirements and other factors.
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27   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the significant assumptions used to calculate the Corporation's defined benefit obligation:

As at As at
October 28, October 29, 

2018 2017

Discount rate, end of year
Canada 3.90 % 3.60 %
United States 4.25 —

Weighted average rate of compensation increase
Canada 2.45 3.03

As at October 28, 2018, in Canada and in the United States, the growth rate of health care costs for other post-employment defined benefit plans was estimated at 6.0%, 
gradually decreasing to reach 4.15%, over 15 years.

The following table presents the impact of changes in the significant assumptions on the defined benefit obligation for the year ended October 28, 2018 and has some limitations. 
The sensitivities of each significant assumption have been calculated without taking into account any changes in the other assumptions. Actual results could therefore lead to 
changes in other assumptions simultaneously. Any change in one factor may result in changes in another factor, which could amplify or reduce the impact of changes in significant 
assumptions.

Defined
benefit

Increase (decrease) obligation

Impact of 0.1% increase in discount rate $ (9.2)
Impact of 0.1% decrease in discount rate 9.4
Impact of 1.0% increase in growth rate of health care costs 1.0
Impact of 1.0% decrease in growth rate of health care costs (0.9)

The following table presents the composition of the defined benefit plan cost for the years ended:

Pension benefits Other defined benefit plans Total
October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29, October 28, October 29,

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Current service cost $ — $ — $ 0.8 $ 0.3 $ 0.8 $ 0.3
Past service cost — (0.3) — — — (0.3)
Administrative costs 1.6 1.1 — — 1.6 1.1
Loss on settlement — 0.2 — — — 0.2
Plans cost recognized in net earnings 1.6 1.0 0.8 0.3 2.4 1.3

Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation 27.2 24.8 0.5 0.4 27.7 25.2
Interest income on plan assets (25.8) (23.5) — — (25.8) (23.5)
Net interest on the defined benefit liability 1.4 1.3 0.5 0.4 1.9 1.7

Defined benefit plan cost $ 3.0 $ 2.3 $ 1.3 $ 0.7 $ 4.3 $ 3.0

Defined benefit plan costs recognized under Operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017 were 
$1.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The net defined benefit plan gains or costs recognized under Restructuring and other costs (gains) in the Consolidated Statements 
of Earnings for the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017 were $0.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
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27   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the costs recognized under Operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings for defined contribution pension plans and state plans 
for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Defined contribution pension plans $ 18.0 $ 17.7
State plans 14.1 15.8

$ 32.1 $ 33.5

28   COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Commitments
The Corporation is committed, under various operating leases for premises, to make payments until 2029. Minimum payments required over the coming years for these 
commitments are as follows:

Less than 1 to More than
1 year 5 years 5 years Total

Leases for premises (1) $ 26.3 $ 61.2 $ 21.4 $ 108.9
Contracts to acquire production equipment 4.2 3.2 — 7.4

$ 30.5 $ 64.4 $ 21.4 $ 116.3

(1) The Corporation has entered into sublease agreements for some of its locations under operating leases, with expiry dates between 2019 and 2025. The Corporation estimates  
to recover an amount totaling $20.2 million. 

Guarantees
In the normal course of business, the Corporation has provided the following significant guarantees to third parties:

a) Indemnification of third parties
Under the terms of debt agreements, the Corporation has agreed to indemnify the holders of such debt instruments against any increase in costs incurred or reduction in the 
amounts otherwise payable to them resulting from changes in laws and regulations. These indemnification commitments are in effect for the term of the agreements and have 
no limitations. Given the nature of these indemnification agreements, the Corporation is unable to estimate its maximum potential liability to third parties. Historically, the 
Corporation has not made any indemnification payments and, as at October 28, 2018, the Corporation had not recorded a liability associated with these indemnification 
agreements.

b) Business disposals
In connection with the disposal of operations or assets, the Corporation agreed to indemnify against any claims that may result from its previous activities or arise under in-force 
agreements at the transaction date. Given the nature of these indemnification agreements, the Corporation is unable to estimate its maximum potential liability to guaranteed 
parties. Historically, the Corporation has not made any significant indemnification payments and, as at October 28, 2018, the Corporation had not recorded any liability associated 
with these indemnification agreements.

Contingent liabilities
In the normal course of operations, the Corporation is involved in various claims and legal proceedings. Although the outcome of these pending cases as at October 28, 2018, 
cannot be determined with certainty, the Corporation considers that their outcome is unlikely to have a material adverse effect on its financial position and operating results, 
given the provisions or insurance coverage with regards to some of these claims and legal proceedings.
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29   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur losses arising from the failure of third parties to meet their contractual obligations. The Corporation is exposed to credit risk  
with regard to its accounts receivable, as well as through its normal activities involving cash. The Corporation's maximum exposure to credit risk for these elements is represented 
by their carrying amount in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The Corporation is also exposed to credit risk with regard to its derivative financial instrument 
assets. However, the Corporation estimates this risk as low because it deals only with recognized financial institutions with investment-grade credit ratings. As at October 28, 
2018 and October 29, 2017, the Corporation's maximum exposure to credit risk related to derivative financial instrument assets was low. 

The Corporation regularly analyzes and examines the financial position of customers and applies rigorous evaluation procedures to all new customers. The Corporation establishes 
a specific credit limit for each customer and periodically reviews the limits for customers that are significant or considered at risk. As well, the Corporation believes that it is 
protected against any concentration of risk through its products, customer base and geographic diversity. The Corporation also has a credit insurance policy covering certain 
customers for a maximum amount of $25.0 million of aggregate losses per year. The policy contains the usual clauses and limits regarding the amounts that can be claimed by 
event and year of coverage.

As at October 28, 2018, no single customer represented 10.0% or more of the revenues of the Corporation, or 10.0% or more of the related accounts receivable.

The Corporation determines whether receivables are past due according to the types of customers, their payment history and the industry in which they conduct business. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables are reviewed at each reporting date by management. The Corporation records a bad debt expense only on receivables 
where collection is not reasonably certain.

The past due receivables are as follows:

As at As at
October 28, October 29, 

Trade receivables 2018 2017

1 - 30 days past due $ 71.8 $ 53.4
31 - 60 days past due 21.0 11.1
More than 60 days past due 12.8 10.7

105.6 75.2

Allowance for doubtful accounts (4.4) (5.3)
$ 101.2 $ 69.9

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ 5.3 $ 4.7
Business combinations (Note 4) 2.6 —
Bad debt expense 0.6 2.2
Receivables recovered or written off (4.1) (1.6)

Balance, end of year $ 4.4 $ 5.3

Based on the payment history of customers, the Corporation is of the opinion that the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate to cover risks of non-payment.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they mature. The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk with regard to its accounts 
payable, long-term debt, derivative financial instrument liabilities and contractual obligations.



50

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated and per share data)

29   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at October 28, 2018:

Carrying Contractual Less than Over
amount cash flows 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 430.7 $ 430.7 $ 430.7 $ — $ — $ —
Long-term debt 1,461.0 1,658.0 305.0 580.8 651.8 120.4
Other monetary liabilities, excluding contingent considerations 12.8 12.8 — 12.8 — —
Contingent considerations 15.6 15.6 0.3 — 15.3 —

1,920.1 2,117.1 736.0 593.6 667.1 120.4

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts in liabilities 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.1 — —

$ 1,920.8 $ 2,117.8 $ 736.6 $ 593.7 $ 667.1 $ 120.4

The following table presents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at October 29, 2017:

Carrying Contractual Less than Over
amount cash flows 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 304.5 $ 304.5 $ 304.5 $ — $ — $ —
Long-term debt 348.3 378.6 14.5 364.1 — —
Other monetary liabilities, excluding contingent considerations 17.0 17.0 — 17.0 — —
Contingent considerations 0.1 0.1 0.1 — — —

669.9 700.2 319.1 381.1 — —

Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts in liabilities 0.1 0.1 0.1 — — —

$ 670.0 $ 700.3 $ 319.2 $ 381.1 $ — $ —

The Corporation believes that future funds generated by operating activities and the access to additional funds on banking and financial markets will be adequate to meet its 
obligations. In addition, the Corporation has entered into long-term contracts with the majority of its major customers. 

Market risk 
The market risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur losses arising from adverse changes in underlying market factors, including interest and exchange rates.

a) Interest rate risk 
The Corporation is exposed to market risk related to interest rate fluctuations because its long-term debt bears interest at fixed and floating rates. The Corporation manages 
this risk by maintaining an adequate mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings.

For the year ended October 28, 2018, all other things being equal, if interest rates had increased or decreased by 50 basis points, the Corporation's net earnings would have 
decreased or increased by  $2.9 million.

b) Foreign currency risk
The Corporation operates and exports goods to the United States and several other countries, and purchases production equipment denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition, 
a portion of the Corporation's long-term debt is denominated in U.S. dollars.  Consequently, it is exposed to risks arising from foreign currency rate fluctuations.
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29   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

To manage foreign currency risk related to exports to the United States, the Corporation enters into foreign exchange forward contracts. As at October 28, 2018, the Corporation 
held foreign exchange forward contracts to sell US$107.0 million (US$76.0 million as at October 29, 2017), of which US$66.5 million, US$28.5 million and US$12.0 million will 
be sold during fiscal 2019, fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021, respectively. The maturities of foreign exchange forward contracts range from 1 to 36 months and their rates range 
from 1,2637 to 1,3526. Foreign exchange forward contracts are designated as cash flow and net investment hedging instruments as at October 28, 2018 and hedging relationships 
were effective and in accordance with the risk management objective and strategy throughout the year. No ineffectiveness expense was recorded in the Consolidated Statements 
of Earnings during the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017.

As indicated in Note 18, the Corporation designated a portion of its term loans and credit facility denominated in U.S. dollars as hedging instruments for its net investment in 
foreign operations to mitigate its foreign currency risk. The designated amount varied between US$195.0 million and US$228.0 million during the year. The effective portion of 
unrealized exchange losses on the translation of the debt designated as a hedging item was $4.0 million for the year ended October 28, 2018 and was recorded in other 
comprehensive income.

For the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, all other things being equal, a hypothetical 10.0% appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar would 
have the following impact on net earnings and OCI:

October 28, 2018 October 29, 2017
Other Other

comprehensive comprehensive
Net earnings income Net earnings income

Exposure to U.S dollars $ 4.3 $ (10.9) $ (1.3) $ (7.7)

A hypothetical 10.0% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar would have the opposite effect on net earnings and OCI.

Fair value
The fair value represents the amount that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The fair value estimates are calculated at a specific date taking into consideration assumptions regarding the amounts, the timing of estimated future 
cash flows and discount rates. Accordingly, due to its approximate and subjective nature, the fair value must not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement 
of the financial instruments.

The carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates their fair value due to their short term maturities. The table below 
indicates the fair value and the carrying amount of other financial instruments and derivative financial instruments as at October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017.

The fair value of long-term debt is determined using the discounted future cash flows method and management's estimates for market interest rates for identical or similar 
issuances. 

The only financial instruments of the Corporation that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis subsequent to their initial recognition are derivative financial instruments, 
including foreign exchange forward contracts and contingent considerations payable related to business combinations. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is 
determined using an evaluation of the estimated market value, adjusted for the credit quality of the counterparty. The valuation model for contingent considerations considers 
the present value of expected payments, discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate. The expected payment is determined by considering various scenarios of achievement 
of pre-established financial performance thresholds, the amount to be paid under each scenario and the probability of each scenario.

The Corporation presents a fair value hierarchy with three levels that reflects the significance of inputs used in determining the fair value assessments. The fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities classified in these three levels is evaluated as follows:

• Level 1 - Unadjusted prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 - Inputs other than the prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)
• Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
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29   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the fair value and the carrying amount of other financial instruments and derivative financial instruments:

As at October 28, 2018 As at October 29, 2017
Carrying Carrying

Fair value amount Fair value amount

Foreign exchange forward contracts in assets $ 1.7 $ 1.7 $ 5.0 $ 5.0

Contingent considerations (15.6) (15.6) 0.2 0.2
Long-term debt (1,472.6) (1,461.0) (359.6) (348.3)
Foreign exchange forward contacts in liabilities (0.7) (0.7) (0.1) (0.1)

These financial instruments are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, except for the contingent considerations payable related  to business combinations, which are 
classified in Level 3. For the years ended October 28, 2018 and October 29, 2017, no financial instruments were transferred between levels 1, 2 and 3.

Sensitivity analysis of Level 3 financial instruments
As at October 28, 2018, all other things being equal, a 10% increase in expected financial performance thresholds of acquired businesses would have resulted in a decrease 
in net earnings of $5.4 million. A 10% decrease in expected financial performance thresholds would have resulted in an increase in net earnings of $8.2 million. 

The changes in Level 3 financial instruments are as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29,
2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ (0.2) $ (15.0)
Business combinations (Note 4) (15.3) —
Amount paid — 12.5
Change included in net earnings — 2.0
Exchange rate change (0.1) 0.3

Balance, end of year $ (15.6) $ (0.2)
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30   CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Corporation's main capital management objectives are as follows:

• Optimize the financial structure by targeting a ratio of net debt to operating earnings before depreciation and amortization excluding the accelerated recognition of deferred 
revenues, restructuring and other costs (gains), impairment of assets and the reversal of the fair value adjustment of inventory sold in connection with business combinations 
("adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization") in order to maintain a high credit rating;

• Preserve its financial flexibility in order to seize strategic investment opportunities.

The Corporation relies on the ratio of net debt to adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization as the main indicator of financial leverage. The net debt ratio 
is as follows for the years ended:

October 28, October 29, 
2018 2017 (1)

Long-term debt $ 1,209.8 $ 348.3
Current portion of long-term debt 251.2 —
Cash (40.5) (247.1)
Net debt $ 1,420.5 $ 101.2

Adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization $ 459.3 $ 396.7
Net debt ratio 3.1x 0.3x

(1) Amounts for the year ended October 29, 2017 were adjusted to reflect the changes to the definition of adjusted operating earnings before depreciation and amortization made 
during the year ended October 28, 2018.

For the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation was not in default with respect to any of its financial obligations and any of its covenants.

31   NEW AGREEMENT WITH HEARST

On December 21, 2017, The Hearst Corporation ("Hearst") terminated its printing services agreement under which the Corporation printed the San Francisco Chronicle in its 
Fremont, California facility, and a new agreement was signed under which the parties acknowledged the following:

• the Corporation would continue to offer its printing services until April 1, 2018,
• the Corporation would sell to Hearst certain of its equipments used to print the San Francisco Chronicle,
• the Corporation would lease to Hearst its Fremont facility until 2025, with an option for a three-year renewal period,
• the Corporation would offer transition services to allow Hearst to acquire the necessary skills to operate the Fremont facility until October 31, 2018.

The initial agreement included a payment by Hearst of an amount of $31.9 million as compensation for early termination of the printing agreement.

During the year ended October 28, 2018, the Corporation received a total amount of $54.7 million relating to the termination of the previous agreement and the signing of the 
new one.

Deferred revenues relating to the printing services agreement, which totaled $95.0 million as at December 21, 2017, to which the termination compensation of $31.9 million was 
added, were recognized during the year ended October 28, 2018 as indicated in the table thereafter, excluding the portion of deferred revenues of $16.5 million allocated to 
rental income, which will be recognized as revenues over the term of the Fremont lease contract. Due to this transaction, the Corporation reclassified the carrying amount of its 
Fremont building and land from a building for own use to an investment property for an amount of $55.4 million.

In addition, the Corporation revised the depreciation schedule and residual value of the printing equipments sold to Hearst under the new agreement, and of printing equipments 
to be transferred in other plants.
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31   NEW AGREEMENT WITH HEARST (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the impact of this transaction on the Corporation's operating earnings for the year ended October 28, 2018:

Recognition of deferred revenues
Recognition for the year, printing services portion $ 12.3
Recognition for the year, lease portion 1.4
Accelerated recognition 102.1

115.8

Other revenues
Transition services and building lease 11.9

11.9

Depreciation of printing equipments sold and to be transferred
Depreciation for the year (2.3)
Accelerated depreciation (22.0)

(24.3)
Net impact of the transaction on operating earnings $ 103.4
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